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  2011 2010 2010 2009 2008 2007
  Continuing Continuing   
  operations operations

Operating revenues NOK million 3,690 3,050 3,496 3,321 3,622 3,490
EBITDA NOK million 810 628 687 490 612 606
Profit before other items NOK million 625 470 514 292 456 445
Ordinary profit before taxes NOK million 604 463 508 391 432 442
Net profit NOK million 419 114 114 268 292 292
Total assets NOK million 3,999 3,305 3,305 3,112 3,594 2,952
Equity NOK million 2,141 1,832 1,832 1,845 2,019 1,624
       
Return on equity, ex. other items % 20.3 15.8 17.3 12.9 15.3 15.6
Return on total assets, ex. other items % 17.5 15.1 16.5 12.5 14.4 15.2
       
Earnings per share NOK 2.72 0.32 0.50 1.67 1.82 1.76
Earnings per share fully diluted NOK 2.72 0.32 0.50 1.67 1.82 1.76
Net cash flow from operating activities NOK million 567 525 525 457 375 526
       
Number of employees as of 31 December  1,786 1,419 2,027 1,952 2,110 2,040
Female employees % 18 19 19 18 19 20
Female managers (of all managers) % 18 19 19 21 22 19
Ethnic minority employees % 12 13 32 32 29 32
Number of reportable injuries  109 92 137 138 153 167
Carbon dioxide emissions Metric tons 25,400 22,000 23,300 30,200 26,400 28,900
Waste generation Metric tons 3,320 3,130 3,135 3,100 2,820 2,745
 

key figures
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During economic periods with high growth, the supply of 
many critical resources will be at their limit, resulting in short-
ages and rising commodity prices. Water consumption is pre-
dicted to rise with rates of 40-60 percent in the coming 10-20 
years. Food supply is critical.  Millions of tons of paper, met-
als, glass and plastic are being disposed of yearly. The mining 
industry requires high input of critical resources such as ener-
gy and water for processing. With fast growing and emerg-
ing markets like the “BRIC” countries and their increasing 
demands for resources, there is an urgency to manage resourc-
es better. The 7 billion people inhabiting the planet consume 
more than the world can sustainably support. Today we would 
need 1.5 planets to continue to satisfy current demands. The 
world is at the dawn of a resource revolution.

TOMRA’s portfolio of solutions enable our customers to 
better optimize their own and the world’s resources – in the 
way they are obtained, as in the mining industry, in the way 
they are used, as in the food industry and in the way they are 
reused, as in the recycling industry.

Good market momentum - a year of solid 
proGress for tomra (proGress into result)
2011 was a year with favorable market conditions and solid 
progress both operationally and strategically. Market conditions 
for sorting equipment for recycling were favorable resulting in 
a growth in order intake of over 20 percent. The market condi-
tions for the collection technology business were also positive 
leading to solid top line growth driven by good momentum 
in both Europe and the USA. The strong market momentum 
resulted in growth in all business segments, increasing consoli-
dated organic revenues by 13 percent in local currencies. 
As a result of cost saving activities and revenue growth, 
earnings improved, giving an EBITA margin of 18 percent.

In line with our plans, TOMRA continued on the road of 
strategic repositioning. To better reflect the current and 
future activities of the group, the Group’s mission and vision 
statements were reengineered. The portfolio structures were 
amended by strengthening the position in the food processing 
sector, later, in the year non-core activities were disposed of.

a unified tomra positioned for present & future 
demands (unity into Growth)
The planning stage of the brand strategy and the strategic 
repositioning process, started in 2010, was concluded along 
with preparations for the global launch in 2012. The Group 
mission, “TOMRA creates sensor-based solutions for optimal 
resource productivity,” describes the field in which TOMRA 

focuses its activities and acts as a filter for critical decisions.  
The vision statement, “Leading the resource revolution,” 
directs and visualizes a TOMRA that proactively supports 
the increasing need for sustainable resource management. 
With the new mission and vision statements, the TOMRA 
Group has for the first time in its history generated a com-
mon direction for all its activities. As a result we have updated 
our brand architecture and decided that the Group will report 
to two business areas, “TOMRA Collection Solutions” and 
“TOMRA Sorting Solutions.” All Group companies are fol-
lowing a joint transformation process in which the TOMRA 
brand name will be utilized going forward. 

ChiEf ExECUTivE OffiCER’s REviEw

the world is 
at the dawn of 
a resource revolution

“TOMRA creates sensor-based 
solutions for optimal resource 
productivity,”
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TOMRA, with its ambition 
to be a leading company within 
cutting edge solutions for optimal 
resource productivity, in a fast 
growing sector, will require 
people that have the right set of 
competencies like expertise in 
sensor technologies, high speed 
data and image processing, supply 
chain processes, and strong 
experience within recycling, food 
processing and mining industries. 
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The above activities will enable TOMRA to better leverage 
Group synergies, support accelerated growth and generate 
greater value for our shareholders.

today into tomorrow
The acquisition of the food sorting company Odenberg 
strengthens TOMRA’s position in the field of sensor-based 
sorting and has enabled leverage of synergies in after sales 
service, supply chain management, product development and 
R&D. The acquisition was completed in February 2011 and the 
integration process was concluded within six months.

Material handling in California was divested, as it was identi-
fied as non-core business; it lacked the potential for synergies 
and had limited opportunity for TOMRA to scale the busi-
ness. On December 31, 2011 the activities were sold.

As preparation for TOMRA’s growth in new and emerging 
markets, it was decided to establish operations in Sao Paolo, 
Brazil and Dubai, UAE. The operation in Brazil was launched in 
2011.

doinG business responsibly
TOMRA joined the UN Global Compact at the end of 2009 
and the 2011 Annual Report is our second Communication 
on Progress.  During 2011 we focused on anti-corruption 
awareness and training and have started the process of assess-
ing and improving our management of risks related to Human 
Rights.  “Responsibility” is one of TOMRA’s core values and 
we are working to ensure that TOMRA operates responsibly 

on a global basis.  The UN Global Compact’s tools and resourc-
es provide valuable assistance to this work.  TOMRA will 
continue to support and promote the principles of the Global 
Compact during 2012.

a successful strateGic execution requires skilled 
and motivated people (ideas into action)
TOMRA, with its ambition to be a leading company within 
cutting edge solutions for optimal resource productivity, in a 
fast growing sector, will require people that have the right set 
of competencies like expertise in sensor technologies, high 
speed data and image processing, supply chain processes, and 
strong experience within recycling, food processing and min-
ing industries. Our ambition is to foster a working environ-
ment that is dynamic, motivational and inspiring. Therefore 
the Group in 2009, embarked on a program called “Great 
Place to Work.” This program provides direct feedback from 
the employees in regard to work satisfaction levels. The latest 
Group wide survey indicated that 82 percent of the employees 
find TOMRA to be a great place to work.

“TOMRA`s purpose is to create sensor-based solutions for 
optimal resource productivity, making sustainability profit-
able - with increased relevance and meaning. In parallel, we 
aim to continuously foster a culture that inspires and moti-
vates our people and customers.” From purpose into profit 
and profits into progress, TOMRA is Transforming what it 
means to be resourceful. 

Stefan Ranstrand, TOMRA President & CEO
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Reverse Vending: TOMRA
Compaction: Orwak
Material Recovery: TOMRA

Recycling: TITECH
Mining: CommodasUltrasort
Food: Odenberg

business
overview

TOMRA has experienced rapid growth
throughout its 40-year history. Growth has
been driven by a number of strategic shifts
involving a combination of organic initiatives
and acquisitions. The sum of all these
developments has shaped a company that
today is organized in two business areas.

UNITY
INTO
GROWTH
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REvERsE vENDiNG AND MATERiAL RECOvERY

COMPACTiON

RECYCLiNG

MiNiNG

fOOD

ROLE IN THE RESOURCE
REVOLUTION

ROLE IN THE RESOURCE
REVOLUTION

ROLE IN THE RESOURCE
REVOLUTION

ROLE IN THE RESOURCE
REVOLUTION

ROLE IN THE RESOURCE
REVOLUTION

+ Transforms consumer behavior
 by making it convenient and 
 rewarding for consumers to return  
 their empty containers.

+  Improves logistics and handling of
 used beverage containers in the
 recycling chain.

+ Clean and efficient, 
 ensuring correct redemption 
 of containers.

+ Increases retail traffic and adds to
 retailer’s CSR image building.

+ Saves in storage of recyclable 
 materials.

+ Lowers transportation costs. 
 Daily savings of 20,000 transport  
 movements, resulting in daily 
 savings of 160,000 liters of fuel.

+ Overall lower waste handling costs
 of up to 50%, saving businesses  
 money.

+ Lowers operating and 
 maintenance costs.

+ Reduces accidents and strain on  
 staff.

+ Diminishes costs.

+ Provides greater 
 efficiency.

+ Results in higher yields from 
 prod ucts

+ More efficient recovery of materials.

+ Our sorters can reduce water
 consumption by 3-4 cubic meters
 per ton.

+ Better utilization of existing 
 deposits.

+ Better carbon footprint.

+ Reduction of acid mine drainage.

+ Less pollution.

+ Greater yields.

+ Maximizes yield and recovery, 
 while reducing waste.

+ Minimizes energy and chemical  
 usage.

+ Increases productivity through 
 highcapacity sorting.

+ Consistent, high quality food 
 assurance.

+ Consumer food safety assurance.

30 billion used beverage 
containers are captured every 
year by our reverse vending 
machines.*

Our vertical balers enable 
daily savings of 20,000 trans-
port movements, which saves 
160,000 liters of fuel.*

450,000 tons of metal are 
recovered every year by our 
metal sorting technology.*

The mining industry consumes 2%-3%
of the world’s energy just for crushing
and milling – equal to that of global 
aviation traffic. Our sensor-based sorters 
can reduce the volume to be crushed by 
15%-40% resulting in significant 
savings.

We recover 5% - 10% of the produce 
through higher yields and better utiliza-
tion, reducing pressure on the food chain.*

*The avoided greenhouse gas emission equals the annual
emissions from 2 million cars—each driving 10,000 kilometers.

*Saving 160,000 liters of fuel is equal to removing about
400 European cars from the road for one year.

*450,000 tons of metal is equivalent to 2,771 Boeing 747s.
Almost double the amount that have ever been built.

*That’s appoximately 25,000 trucks per year in potatoes
alone. We also sort carrots, tomatoes, peaches...

1 truck= 1,000 trucks

= 1,000

= 100



10

2011 was the first year of TOMRA’s Corporate Responsibility 
Program and the focus was the integration of CR principles 
into the day-to-day activities of TOMRA Group through 
increased awareness and training.  This is an important 
element of defining company culture and is also part of 
TOMRA’s commitment to the UN Global Compact. In the 
first phase of the program, TOMRA has prioritized the head 
office in Norway and the major markets of Germany and USA.

In 2011 TOMRA acquired Odenberg Group, a leading pro-
vider of optical sorting and processing technology for the 
fresh and processed food industries.  Odenberg’s products 
maximize yield and recovery, while at the same time reducing 
waste and minimizing energy and chemical usage.  This leads 
to better business and a better environment.

The addition of a new business area provided an opportunity 
for TOMRA to evaluate its vision, mission and core values.  
This resulted in the new vision: Leading the resource revo-
lution.  At the same time, TOMRA updated its Corporate 

Responsibility Statement to reflect these changes and to also 
strengthen its commitment to the protection of human rights.  
The full statement is available on tomra.com.

corporate
responsibility



11
annual report 2011toMra 

Continue  to identify  and implement actions to achieve 25% 
reduction in eco-intensity (CO2 emissions) by 2015

Continue implementation and follow-up of TOMRA’s ethical 
and other Group policies

Continued focus on being an attractive employer

Reduce the number of accidents per full time employee

Start update of TOMRA’s carbon footprint, including assess-
ment of vehicle fleet
Completed phase I

Promote TOMRA’s ethical policies
In progress

Improve TOMRA’s employee satisfaction rating versus 2010
Completed

Reduce the number of accidents per full time employee
In progress

proGress report

2012 tarGets – proposal
review of 2011 Goals
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TOMRA was one of the first to recognize that a better 
environment is better for business and TOMRA has been a 
leader in creating solutions for resource productivity for four 
decades.  TOMRA is still constantly striving to improve its 
internal practices and optimize its resources – led by the spirit 
of innovation.

TOMRA takes its environmental responsibilities seriously 
and its CR statement includes the requirement to minimize 
risk in its activities.  An example of this approach in practice 
relates to bisphenol-A, a chemical commonly used in plastics 
and also on thermal paper used for printing receipts from 
reverse vending machines.  In response to safety concerns, 
TOMRA now supplies bisphenol-free paper with all new 
reverse vending machines.

TOMRA’s biggest source of direct carbon dioxide emissions 
is its vehicle fleet, with the US being the most significant 
market.  In 2011 TOMRA North America established a CO2   
Reduction Team to look at ways of reducing total emissions.  
One project has targeted idling time on truck engines, which 
has reduced idling time by almost a third – reducing CO2  

emissions by almost 400 tonnes.

TOMRA’s Environmental Report, which excludes TOMRA 
Pacific Inc (TPI), shows a general increase in all areas.  This is 
due to the inclusion of Odenberg in the 2011 data.  However, 
the eco-intensity graphs indicate that the sale of TPI, a rela-
tively energy-intensive operation, will help TOMRA meet its 
reduction targets for internal operations by 2015.  In line with 
the 5-year Environmental Program, TOMRA will now focus 
more on analyzing and improving its carbon footprint and 
product lifecycle.

environmental
review
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climate chanGe account   
 
carbon dioxide emissions from operations   
    
TONNEs CARBON DiOxiDE  2011 2010

emission from stationary sources  (scope 1) 4,800  2,600 
 heating oil  2,000  1,500 
 Natural gas  1,400  1,000 
 Propane  1,400  100 
emission from purchased grid electricity (scope 2) 2,400  2,300 
 Norway  0  0 
 Europe EU25  600  400 
 North America  1,800  1,900 
 Rest of world  0  0 
 Certified low-carbon or renewable  0  0 
emission from transportation  18,200  17,100 
 Petrol vehicles (scope 1) 3,200  2,700 
 Diesel vehicles (scope 1) 14,200  13,100 
 LPG vehicles (scope 1) 100  300 
 Employee-owned vehicles (scope 3) 100  200 
 Air travel (scope 3) 600  800 
total direct emissions (tonnes co2)  25,400  22,000 
emission from products during use-phase (scope 3) 127,200  117,700 
 RvMs owned and operated by  
 TOMRA and customers  57,800  55,100 
 Compactors owned by customers  66,400  61,200 
 scanners owned by customers  3,000  1,400 
 
total direct and indirect emissions  153,000  140,000 

 
avoided carbon dioxide emissions 
throuGh product use    
   
TONNEs CARBON DiOxiDE  2011 2010

beverage container collection  
through rvms and arcs (1)  2,503,000  2,452,000 
 Plastic bottles  684,000  670,000 
 Glass bottles  467,000  457,000 
 Aluminium cans  1,321,000  1,295,000 
 steel cans  31,000  30,000 
packaging material transport  
and handling (2)  759,000  1,100,000 
 Glass bottles  55,000  47,000 
 Aluminium cans  577,000  852,000 
 Plastic bottles, PET  122,000  199,000 
 Plastic bottles, hDPE  0  0 
 Cardboard and fiber  5,000  2,000 
packaging material sorted for recycling  
from mixed sources, titech (3)  14,514,000  8,249,000 
 Glass  0  0 
 Aluminium  2,722,000  1,513,000 
 PET  1,774,000  2,430,000 
 hDPE  377,000  610,000 
 fiber  133,000  293,000 
 Non-ferrous metal  8,258,000  2,310,000 
 Other  1,250,000  1,093,000 
reduction of transport due to  
material compaction, orwak (4)  315,000  286,000 
total emission avoidance  18,090,000  12,090,000 

net carbon dioxide emission/(avoidance) (17,900,000) (12,000,000)

 
waste Generation   
 
waste Generation from manufacturinG, 
sales, service and operations   
 
TONNEs wAsTE 2011 2010

waste generation  3,320  3,130 
 Paper  10  10 
 Cardboard  125  110 
 Plastics  940  1,280 
 wood  110  100 
 Electric and electronic waste  
 (incl. TOMRA products)  20  30 
 Expanded polystyrene  0  0 
 Metal scrap  425  465 
 Batteries  0  5 
 hazardous waste  0  0 
 Unsorted  1,690  1,130 

TOMRA ENviRONMENTAL REPORT 2011

enerGy consumption   
 
enerGy consumption in manufacturinG, 
sales, service and operational processes   
    
BARRELs OiL EQUivALENT  2011 2010

energy consumption,  
stationary sources (scope 1) 4,700  3,700 
 heating oil  4,700  3,600 
 Natural gas  0  0 
 Propane  0  100 
energy consumption,  
purchased grid electricity (scope 2) 9,500  8,600 
 Norway  2,400  2,600 
 Europe EU25  1,900  1,800 
 North America  5,200  4,200 
 Rest of world  0  0 
 Certified low-carbon or renewable  0  0 
energy consumption, transportation  44,100  41,800 
 Petrol vehicles (scope 1) 8,600  7,400 
 Diesel vehicles (scope 1) 33,200  30,800 
 LPG vehicles (scope 1) 500  1,300 
 Employee-owned vehicles (scope 3) 300  400 
 Air travel (scope 3) 1,500  1,900 
 total direct energy consumption  58,300  54,100 
energy consumption,  
products during use-phase (scope 3) 152,400  141,000 
 RvMs owned and operated  
 by TOMRA and customers  69,300  66,000 
 Compactors owned by customers  79,500  73,300 
 scanners owned by customers  3,600  1,700 
 
total direct and indirect  
energy consumption  210,700  195,100

notes
Emissions have been calculated using the GhGProtocol calculation tools  
(www.ghgprotocol.org), and ‘waste Management Options and Climate Change’ 
(ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/studies/pdf/climate_change.pdf).
some 2010 data has been amended to ensure consistency with 2011 reporting 
and TPi data has been excluded.

1. beverage container collection through rvms and arcs.
Carbon dioxide savings are calculated based on the total number of beverage 
containers collected through TOMRA’s over 70.000 RvM and ARC installations;  
more than 35 billion units annually. All glass beverage containers are assumed 
to be non-refillable, which gives a significantly lower assumed weight. The split 
between packaging types is based on beverage consumption data and TOMRA 
estimates. The full benefit of collectiing and recycling the beverage containers 
into new material, versus landfill, is included in the calculation.

2. packaging material transport and handling
The carbon dioxide saving is based on the tonnage of beverage container mate-
rial transported and handled by TOMRA in UsA. The full benefit of collecting 
and recycling beverage containers into new material, as opposed to landfill, is 
included in the calculation , meaning that some of the saving is also included 
under ‘Beverage container collection through RvMs and ARCs’.

3. packaging material sorted for recycling from mixed sources, titech
Estimated material throughput in Titech installations is used in the calculation of 
avoided carbon dioxide emission. The full benefit  of sorting materials and recy-
cling into new is included in the calculation.

4. reduction of transport due to material compaction, orwak
it is estimated that the installed base of ORwAK Group products can compact 
around 10 million tonnes of material daily, reducing both transport kilometers 
and fuel usage each year. This is estimated to save over 20 000 transport move-
ments each day. This calculation does not take into account the carbon dioxide 
benefit of material recycling.

The provision of information on carbon dioxide emission avoidance is illustrative 
only, and intended solely  as an aid to illustrate the benefit to society gener-
ated by the TOMRA Group. The above information does not constitute a full Life 
Cycle Analysis. The methodology and assumptions used  in calculating carbon 
dioxide avoidance are available upon request.

scope 1: All direct GhG emissions     
scope 2: indirect GhG emissions from purchased electricity, heat or steam  
scope 3: Other indirect emissions from purchased goods or services  
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impact on people within tomra Group
  2011 2010 excl TPI 2010 2009

Number of employees (#) 1,786  1,419  2,027  1,952 
Female employees (%) 18  19  19  18 
Female managers (%) 18  19  19  21 
Ethnic minority employees (%) 12  13  32  32 
Reportable injuries (#) 109  92  137  138 
 - per 100 FTE (#) 6.3  6.4  6.7  6.8 

responsible business
TOMRA operates in a global market where familiar and unex-
pected risks and opportunities can occur in a variety of forms.  
TOMRA is committed to doing business ethically and oper-
ates with zero-tolerance for corruption. TOMRA respects 
internationally recognized human rights principles and in 
2011 TOMRA reviewed its business processes to ensure that 
human rights are considered in key business decisions.  This 
means performing legal and ethical due diligence in addition 
to financial due diligence when considering certain business 
opportunities.

TOMRA continued its anti-corruption program in 2011.  In 
addition to the anti-bribery policy, TOMRA also implement-
ed guidelines for gifts and entertainment to provide a clearer 
framework for its employees.

employee satisfaction
TOMRA recognizes that attracting, retaining and developing 
the people in its organization are critical to the company’s 
success.  Therefore TOMRA views employee satisfaction as a 
key measure of its performance.

Overall the results of the 2011 employee satisfaction survey for 
TOMRA Group showed a significant improvement compared 
to 2010.  The results indicated that the employees are proud 
to work for TOMRA. Eighty-one percent of the respondents 
stated that TOMRA was a great place to work, which is up from 
74 percent the previous year. To become an even greater place 
to work, TOMRA will continuously involve its employees to 
further improve employee satification.

2010        2011

Employee Satisfaction100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

TOMRA Systems ASA TOMRA Group

social
and ethical
review
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economic impact
TOMRA reports the value distributed to different stakeholder, 
including employees, shareholders and society in general.

The value added created by TOMRA, excluding discontinued 
operations, was just over 1,600 MNOK in 2011 and the amount 
distributed to stakeholders is shown in the chart below.  

value distributed 2011

Salaries 71,9%

Minority interest 2,6%

Taxes 11,6%

Dividend 11,0%

Financial expenses 1,5%
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TOMRA has established a code of conduct as well as 
an anti-bribery policy that outline the ethical guide-
lines for the corporation’s management.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION
TOMRA’s scope of business and strategy is estab-
lished in the bylaws, and is described in further detail 
in the annual report and on the website.

EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS
AND TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSE ASSOCIATES
All material recommendations are fulfilled. No mate-
rial transactions between the company and related 
parties that require a third party evaluation have 
taken place during 2011.

FREELY TRADED SHARES
There are no trading restrictions on the company’s 
shares.

GENERAL MEETINGS
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

CORPORATE ASSEMBLY AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
All material recommendations are fulfilled. Board 
members appointed by the shareholders are deemed 
to be independent.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ACTIVITIES
The Board has established the following commit-
tees: audit, compensation, nomination and corporate 
responsibility.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

TAKEOVERS
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

AUDITOR
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

At TOMRA, corporate governance is defined to include those 
processes and control features which have been established 
to protect the interests of TOMRA’s share-holders and other 
stakeholders such as employees, suppliers and customers. 
TOMRA’s Corporate Governance Policy has been approved by 
the Board of Directors and is available on TOMRA’s corporate 
website (www.tomra.com).

values, code of conduct and quality systems 
Responsibility, Passion, Innovation. These three elements 
stand at the center of TOMRA’s value structure, representing 
the core values of the corporation. We consider these prin-
ciples to be of vital importance for the success of our organi-
zation and the basis for the way we conduct ourselves as we 
strive to achieve our business goals. TOMRA has also devel-
oped and implemented an internal code of conduct which sets 
out key principles for employee behavior when representing 
TOMRA.

TOMRA’s quality and environmental management systems 
are based on the international ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 man-
agement systems standards. All units within the Technology 
division of Tomra Systems have been certified according to 
these standards. This ensures that our internal systems and 
procedures are aligned with international “best practice” and 
that responsibility and authority for all important tasks is 
appropriately allocated.

corporate Governance policy
TOMRA has implemented a corporate governance program 
in accordance with the Norwegian recommendation for cor-
porate governance, which is available on www.nues.no. On 
the right is a short summary with references to the chapters 
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in the recommendation dated 21 October 2010 (with amend-
ments dated 20 October 2011), focusing on any discrepancies 
between TOMRA’s practices and those recommended.

board of directors
The TOMRA Board is composed of five independent directors 
and two employee representatives.  Independent directors are 
proposed by the Nomination Committee based on a number 
of criteria, to ensure a broad range of capabilities and experi-
ence.  Independent directors are ultimately selected by the 
shareholders.

The Board Committees consist of members of TOMRA’s 
Board, chosen by the chair of the board to reflect a balance of 
capabilities and interests.

Instructions for the Board and charters for each of the Board 
committees have been prepared and duly approved by the rel-
evant body.

principles for remuneration of senior executives 
2011-2012
The term “senior executives” applies to the CEO and other 
members of Group management. 

Salary and other employment terms for senior executives shall 
be competitive in order to ensure that TOMRA can attract 
and retain skilled leaders. Salary should include both fixed 
and variable elements. The fixed salary should reflect the 
individual’s area of responsibility and performance over time. 
Principles for remuneration shall be allowed to vary in accor-
dance with local conditions. The remuneration structure shall 
be based on such factors as position, expertise, experience, 
conduct and performance. The variable salary shall not exceed 
50% of the fixed annual salary and is based on the achievement 
of specific performance targets by TOMRA Group and/or the 
respective manager’s unit.

The Board has appointed a Compensation Committee that is 
headed by the Chairman of the Board and overlooks decisions 
on matters regarding remuneration and terms and conditions 
of senior executives.  The performance goals for the CEO are 
determined by the Chairman of the Board. Goals for the other 
senior executives are determined by the CEO and reviewed 
by the Compensation Committee. The goals may be related 
to financial targets, such as profit from operating activities, 
return on capital employed and other performance-related 
objectives.

The CEO’s remuneration package, and any adjustments thereof, 
are agreed between the CEO and the Chairman and approved 
by the Board. The remuneration packages for the other senior 
executives, including adjustments of these, are agreed between 
the CEO and the respective manager. The terms of these agree-
ments are reviewed first by the Compensation Committee and 
finally by the Board of TOMRA. 

In 2010, a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was established, 
tying potential earnings to the return rate that the company 
generates for its shareholders measured against an index 
of return rates from comparable companies (NASDAQ). 
Earnings shall only be applied to the LTIP if TOMRA exceeds 
the index. Earnings are capped at one times the fixed salary 
level per year, and half of this amount after taxes must be 
placed in TOMRA stock when realized.

In addition to fixed and variable salary, other benefits such as 
company car, health insurance, interest- and installment free 
loans, newspaper and telephone might be provided. The total 
value of these benefits should be modest and only account for 
a limited part of the total remuneration package.

Senior Executives participate in the same pension plans as 
other employees within the unit in which they are employed. 
No special pension plans are established for senior executives, 
except in the event a pension plan had been established in a 
company prior to being acquired by TOMRA, and the senior 
executive participated in the plan on the date of acquisition. 
The notification period for senior executives shall be three to 
six months, with the exception of members employed in the 
US, where fixed length contracts may be utilized.

The CEO is entitled to 12 months’ severance pay due to termina-
tion by the company. No agreements shall be established which 
provide members of senior executives any automatic right to 
more than 24 months of severance pay. A detailed account of the 
remuneration of each member of senior executives, including the 
LTIP, is found in note 14 in the financial statements.

The principles and guidelines for management remuneration 
for 2012 have not changed materially from those approved in 
2011, which were presented to the general assembly in April 
2011. The policies concerning remuneration of senior execu-
tives and the setting of salaries have throughout 2011 been in 
line with the established guidelines.

internal control environment and risk 
manaGement systems
The Board is ultimately responsible for TOMRA’s systems 
of internal control and for reviewing their effectiveness. 
Responsibility for individual areas of control has been allocat-
ed through the CEO down to the respective member of Group 
Management. The system is designed to manage, rather than 
eliminate, the risk of failing to achieve business objectives. 
The system can therefore only provide a reasonable, but never 
absolute, assurance against material errors, flaws or losses.

Processes exist for identifying, evaluating and managing 
material risks. Methods used by the Board and the Audit 
Committee to evaluate the quality of the corporation’s inter-
nal control include:
- Review of the auditing plans for both the external and inter-
nal audit
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- Review of reports from management as well as internal and 
external auditors on the systems of internal control and any 
weaknesses identified
- Discussions with management concerning the actions to be 
taken to address problem areas
The Audit Committee includes three board members and all 
Board members receive minutes from each Audit Committee 
meeting. The main features of the risk and control framework 
are outlined below:

risk manaGement
The Board is responsible for approving the Group’s strategy, 
its principal markets and the level of acceptable risk. It has 
established risk management processes to identify the key 
risks facing the business and ensure those risks are managed 
effectively.

control environment
An organizational structure with defined levels of responsibil-
ity and delegation of authority to appropriately qualified man-
agement has been established. A chart of authority documents 
each level of authority throughout the organization.
Matters reserved for the Board are clearly defined and appro-
priate authorization limits and reporting procedures have 
been implemented.

financial reportinG
TOMRA Group prepares and presents its financial statements 
in accordance with current IAS/IFRS rules. Each company 
prepares monthly accounts and the financial data is consoli-
dated and checked at several levels before being presented 
for review by Group Management.  Additional reporting is 
required for the preparation of quarterly and annual finan-
cial statements.  Information and training on accounting 
issues and TOMRA’s reporting process is provided through 
TOMRA’s Finance seminar and local events.

information and communication
The corporation has established systems for planning and 
financial reporting. Actual results compared to budget and 
previous periods, including management’s written comments 
on these results, are reviewed monthly by the Board. In addi-
tion, strategic business initiatives and investment spending 
plans require Board approval.

control activities
Internal control procedures have been tailored to the require-
ments of individual business activities.
Control of areas possessing particularly high inherent risk, 
include clear guidelines for delegation of authority, segrega-
tion of duties, and requirements for regular reporting and 
reviews.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the 
process for identifying, evaluating and managing risks, con-
sidering internal and external audit reports, and reviewing the 
Group’s financial statements.

monitorinG systems
Line management is responsible for the operation of internal 
control routines and these routines are subject to indepen-
dent review by internal audit and, where appropriate, by the 
corporation’s external auditor and external regulators. The 
reports of all these bodies on internal control are reviewed 
by the Audit committee on behalf of the Board. The Audit 
Committee ensures that, where necessary, appropriate correc-
tive action is taken.

Internal audits are performed by the Group Controller and 
the Group Accounting Manager. In their roles as internal audi-
tors they report directly to the Audit Committee. The internal 
audit team carries out independent assessments of risk and the 
adequacy of related internal controls within the corporation. 
Findings and recommendations for strengthening the control 
framework are agreed with local management and the imple-
mentation of agreed changes is monitored by the internal 
audit team. The Audit Committee reviews the internal audit 
findings and proposals concerning improvements to mate-
rial areas, coverage and performance and considers significant 
findings and recommendations. The internal audit team has 
unrestricted access to all records, personnel and property of 
the corporation to collect such information as is necessary for 
the performance of its work.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, has reviewed 
the effectiveness of the corporation’s systems of internal con-
trol for 2011 and the period leading up to the presentation 
of the 2011 financial statements. As might be expected in a 
corporation of TOMRA’s size and complexity, a small number 
of deviations were identified during the period under review. 
Actions to rectify identified inconsistencies have been taken.

annual report 2011toMra 
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- After a challenging 2009, TOMRA rebounded 
strongly in 2010. The momentum continued in 
2011, with significant growth and profit improve-
ment in all segments. The Group ended 2011 with 
a strong balance sheet and a solid foundation for 
further growth.

- Operating revenues in 2011 of NOK 3,690 mil-
lion represented a growth of 21 percent compared 
to 2010. Adjusted for currency effects and acquisi-
tions, the growth was 13 percent. 

- Gross margin maintained stable at 45 percent, 
with all units close to or at all-time high levels.

- EBiTA increased from NOK 497 million in 2010 
to NOK 669 million in 2011, equal to a growth of 44 
percent in local currencies.

- All-time high cash flow from operations of NOK 
566 million, up from NOK 525 million in 2010.

- TOMRA maintained a strong position in the de-
posit markets. Revenues in Collection Technology 
increased from NOK 1,839 million in 2010 to NOK 
2,027 million in 2011, equal to 12 percent growth 
adjusted for currency changes and acquisitions. 
Particularly strong growth in Central Europe due 
to an order from the largest Dutch discount chain.

- All companies within TOMRA’s industrial Pro-
cessing Technology (iPT) segment experienced 
higher activity in 2011 than in 2010. sales outside 
the traditional European and North American mar-
kets increased as a consequence of the ongoing 
geographic expansion in this segment. 

- Revenues within iPT increased  from NOK 691 
million in 2010 to NOK 1,100 million in 2011, equal 
to an increase of 24 percent adjusted for currency 
effects, acquisitions and divestments.

- TOMRA acquired 100 percent of the shares in 
Odenberg at the end of January 2011, becoming a 
leading player in the  food sorting business world-
wide.

- Order backlog in iPT increased from NOK 181 
million by the end of 2010 to NOK 283 million by 
the end of 2011.

- The volumes handled by TOMRA’s material 
handling operations in Eastern Us and Canada in-
creased in 2011 in relation to 2010, revenues con-
sequently grew from UsD 86 million to UsD 100 
million.

- in December 2011 TOMRA divested the opera-
tions within Tomra Pacific (California), for a total 
consideration of UsD 28 million.

- The share price increased from NOK 38.80 
to NOK 40.10 in 2011. During the year 91 million 
TOMRA shares were traded on the Oslo stock Ex-
change, as compared to 108 million in 2010. Ad-
justed for dividend, the TOMRA stock provided a 
shareholder return of 4.9% in 2011.

- The Board suggests a dividend of NOK 1.05 for 
2011, up from NOK 0.60 last year.

summary and hiGhliGhts

Svein Rennemo  
(b. 1947)

Chairman 
Board member since 2009.
Number of TOMRA shares: 0
Other board memberships: Statoil ASA 
(Chairman), Pharmaq AS (Chairman).

Hege Marie Norheim   
(b. 1967)

Board member since 2007.
SVP, Statoil ASA
Number of TOMRA shares: 14,350
Other board memberships: Nordea Norway, 
World Petroleum Council, The Norwegian 
Theater (Det Norske Teatret).

Aniela Gabriela Gjøs   
(b. 1959)

Board member since 2008.
CEO, Cargo Partner Group AS
Number of TOMRA shares: 10,000
Other board memberships: Dagbladet AS, 
Stokke AS, Norwegian Logistics and Freight 
Association.

Bernd H.J. Bothe   
(b. 1944)

Board member since 2010.
Partner, Horn & Company GmbH 
Number of TOMRA shares: 0
Other board memberships: H & E Reinert 
Group (Deputy Chairman),  Industri Kapital 
AB, Spar Österreichische Warenhandels-AG,  
Lekkerland AG, Sonae SGPS, SA, Basler Fashion 
Holding GmbH. 

Jan Svensson    
(b. 1956)

Board member since 2012.
M.Sc. Economics and Business Administration, 
Stockholm School of Economics, 1981 
Number of TOMRA shares: 2,000
Other board memberships: Chairman of the 
Board of public listed companies Nederman 
Holding AB, Fagerhult AB og Oxegon AB. Board 
member of Loomis AB.

David Williamson   
(b. 1959)

Employee representative
Board member since 2008.
Number of TOMRA shares: 648
Other board memberships: None.

Ingrid Solberg  
(b. 1972)

Employee representative
Board member since 2009.
Number of TOMRA shares: 2,755
Other board memberships: None.
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summary and hiGhliGhts

financial performance
Operating revenues amounted to NOK 3,690 million in 2011. 
This represents an increase of 21 percent in relation to 2010. 
Adjusted for acquisitions and currency effects, operating reve-
nues increased by 13 percent. EBITA was NOK 669 million in 
2011, up from NOK 497 million in 2010. The figures include 
one-time charges of NOK 38 million in 2010. A stronger 
NOK measured in USD and EUR throughout 2011 gave a 
negative effect on the EBITA, estimated at about NOK 36 mil-
lion compared to 2010.

Net financial items went from minus NOK 10 million in 2010 
to minus NOK 29 million in 2011, due to increased interest-
bearing debt (financing of the Odenberg acquisition).

Net profit after taxes (profit from continued operations) was 
NOK 440 million in 2011, up from NOK 87 million in 2010, 
which again was negatively influenced by an accrual of NOK 
226 million for the pending EU fine. Earnings per share in 
2011 equaled NOK 2.58 compared to NOK 0.50 in 2010.

Cash flow from operations was strong at NOK 566 million 
in 2011, up from NOK 525 million in 2010. Cash flow from 
investment was negative  NOK 557 million, strongly influ-
enced by the Odenberg acquisition of NOK 407 million.

Cash flow from financing ended at plus NOK 112 million, 
which includes dividend payments of NOK 89 million and 
an increase in interest-bearing debt of NOK 257 million. 
TOMRA’s balance sheet as of 31 December 2011 was NOK 
3,999 million. This represents an increase of 21 percent in 
relation to the balance at the beginning of the year. Adjusted 
for the acquisitions, divestments and increased cash at bank, 
the increase is six percent, which again is mainly explained by 
increased activity.

Although 76 percent of TOMRA’s balance sheet is denomi-
nated in foreign currencies, currency changes had only imma-
terial net impact on the balance sheet when comparing year-
end 2011 versus year-end 2010. The equity ratio (majority’s 
part) was reduced from 58 percent to 54 percent. At the end 
of 2011 the free distributable equity of the parent company 
Tomra Systems ASA stood at NOK 678 million.

Tomra Systems ASA had an increase in operating revenues 
from NOK 911 million in 2010 to NOK 963 million in 2011. 
The increase was explained by more sales of RVMs in 2011 
than in 2010. The operating expenses increased somewhat, 
going from NOK 730 million to NOK 748 million, as a con-
sequence of higher cost of goods sold (due to more machine 
sales). Machines are produced by third parties in Sweden and 
Poland, and at the wholly owned subsidiary Tomra Production 
AS in Norway. The machines are sold via the parent company 
to subsidiaries and distributors, primarily in Europe and 
North America. Activity within the parent company reflects 
therefore the level of sales of machines and parts to end cus-
tomers within this segment.

Profit for the year equaled NOK 162.5 million in 2011 in 
Tomra Systems ASA. Ambition is to distribute 40% to 60% of 
the company’s earnings per share. The Board of Directors rec-
ommends consequently a dividend distribution of NOK 1.05 
per share, up from NOK 0.60 in 2010. 

   
The net profit for 2011 shall be allocated as follows:

Dividend: NOK 155.3 million
To retained earnings: NOK 7.2 million
Total amount applied: NOK 162.5 million

directors’ 
report 2011
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The Board of Directors believes that there are is no reasonable 
cause to question the ability of TOMRA Group and the parent 
company to continue its operation in the foreseeable future 
and hence confirms that the accounts have been prepared on 
a going concern basis and in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the TOMRA Group 
and NGAAP for Tomra Systems ASA.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the financial 
accounts give a true and fair view of the activities in 2011 and 
the position at year end of the TOMRA Group and for the par-
ent company.

the framework GoverninG tomra’s operations
TOMRA’s reverse vending technology provides an efficient 
collection and handling system for deposit beverage contain-
ers in retail locations. Correct recognition as well as automated 
sorting and storage of empty containers reduces retailers’ han-
dling costs to a minimum. This idea formed the basis for the 
establishment of TOMRA in 1972. The company’s growth 
since its inception has mainly been driven by the implementa-
tion of beverage container deposit systems in new markets, 
either through voluntary or legislatively enforced arrange-
ments.

Early in the 1990s TOMRA expanded its activities with the 
addition of integrated solutions for covering a greater part 

of the beverage container recycling value chain. Automated 
compaction of used non-refillable containers contributes to 
the reduction of transport costs and subsequent handling. 
Electronic collection and processing of transaction data from 
the reverse vending machines also assures secure and cost-
effective administration of the deposit funds and materials. 
This expansion of the business model has been instrumental 
to TOMRA’s growth in the North American market.

Despite all the documented advantages of a deposit system, 
few markets have implemented deposit schemes in recent 
years. The recognition that it could take time before new 
markets accepted deposit as an effective system for recycling, 
led several years ago to the decision that TOMRA would 
expand its operations by moving into other areas within the 
value chain for collecting and processing waste. As a conse-
quence, TOMRA established its business segment Industrial 
Processing Technology (IPT), in which TOMRA provides 
efficient industrial solutions for recognizing, sorting and com-
pacting waste and other materials.

After first mainly operating in the market of plastic and paper 
recycling, TOMRA’s IPT segment expanded in 2006 into 
metal recycling, and then into mining (ore-sorting), where 
TOMRA technology now increases the efficiency and lifetime 
of mines. By the beginning of 2011 and in line with this strat-
egy TOMRA took a new step forward with its entry into the 
food industry, where our proven recognition technology now 
will be utilized to sort food based on quality, size and other 
characteristics. TOMRA is consequently in a stage of trans-
formation, where the recycling industry will not be the only 
industry where TOMRA is present going forward.

The results of this initiative have been positive, and in 2011 
the IPT segment contributed 30 percent of the Group’s total 
operating revenues, up from 23 percent in 2010. The percent-
age is expected to increase in the years to come, as TOMRA 
will pursue a strategy of expanding its recognition and sorting 
technology and competence into new areas.

Due to this expansion the Group’s operations today are more 
robust and less dependent on individual markets than pre-
viously. Even if short-run fluctuations in the demand for 
TOMRA’s solutions may occur, the company will in the long 
run be able to capitalize on strong macro trends favoring both 
the recycling industry and other “machine vision” related 
industries. These trends include increasing per capita waste 
levels, higher energy prices, stricter waste recycling regula-
tions, greater environmental awareness, higher food prices, 
increased focus on food safety, increased population, limited 
resources and rising demand for commodities.

key activities
TOMRA is an international corporation with a presence in 
more than 50 countries. The company’s headquarters are 
located in Asker, Norway, and its principal markets lie in 
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North America and Europe, but with steadily increasing activ-
ities in the other continents, particularly in Asia. TOMRA’s 
activities are organized within three business segments: 
Collection Technology, Industrial Processing Technology, 
and Material Handling. The first two segments are technol-
ogy divisions that develop, produce and sell technology. In 
the Material Handling segment, TOMRA carries out the pick-
up, transport and processing of used beverage containers in 
deposit markets in North America.

collection technoloGy
TOMRA’s activities within this business area include primar-
ily the development, production, sale, lease and service of 
automated recycling systems in Europe and North America. 
In addition TOMRA provides data administration systems 
which monitor the volume of collected materials and associ-
ated deposit transactions.

In 2011 revenues within this segment amounted to NOK 
2,027 million, up from NOK 1,839 million in 2010. Adjusted 
for currency changes, revenues increased organically by 12 
percent. 

 The gross contribution decreased from 48 percent to 47 
percent, due to higher new machine sales which have a some-
what lower margin than service.  EBITA increased from NOK 
341 million to NOK 444 million, influenced by on-off items 

of NOK 26 million in 2010, of which NOK 6 million was 
reversed in 2011.

TOMRA’s customers within this segment are primarily in 
the food retail industry in Europe and USA, an industry that 
only to a small degree is affected by financial downturns since 
the consumption of food and beverages remains pretty stable 
through economic cycles. Food retail chains in general consid-
er a well-functioning container return system to be an impor-
tant competitive advantage, as consumers to a certain degree 
choose which store they go to based on the convenience and 
reliability of a store’s return facilities. This applies both in 
times of economic upturn and downturn. With approximately 
50 percent of the segment’s revenues originating from service, 
and a significant part of the new machine sales being replace-
ment, the year over year change in activities will normally be 
limited. In this context, the 12 percent growth in revenues in 
2011 is viewed as very satisfactory.

A contributor to the growth was the order received in second 
quarter 2011 from a Dutch retailer, equipping all their 500 
stores with the latest T820 BCR with compactors for non-refill-
able PET bottles. The order was executed during third quarter 
2011.  In addition, the order signed back in August 2010 with 
a large European retailer, has also influenced performance posi-
tively in Europe. The order is expected to generate EUR 70 mil-
lion of revenues in 2011, 2012 and 2013 combined. 
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In North America, activity increased by nine percent, mea-
sured in local currency. TOMRA operates with two differ-
ent business models in North America. One is a sales model, 
where machines are sold to the food retail stores in the same 
way as is done in Europe; the other is a through-put lease 
model, where TOMRA maintains ownership of the installed 
machines and receives payment according to the number 
of containers handled by the machines. The installed base 
for the two models at the end of 2011 was close to 7,000 
machines on operational lease and a somewhat higher num-
ber of machines sold. A replacement program of the leasing 
machines has been executed during the last two years, where 
old Tx2 machines have been replaced with the new Tx3 plat-
form. As a consequence, the book value of lease machines 
increased from NOK 163 million to NOK 191 million during 
2011. In the beginning of 2010, Connecticut and New York 
expanded their bottle bills by including water bottles. Within 
these states, most installed reverse vending machines are on 
through-put leases. As a result the expansions gradually lead 
to higher volumes through the existing infrastructure, thereby 
increasing utilization and revenues during 2010 and into 
2011. 

TOMRA saw also during 2011 increased activities in markets 
outside the traditional deposit markets in Europe and North 
America. Revenues increased from NOK 5 million in 2010 to 
NOK 24 million in 2011, from markets in the Middle East, 
South America and Japan.

The Technology Department in Norway was in 2011 work-
ing on several projects that targeted reducing product cost 
and improving our gross margins. As part of these initiatives, 
TOMRA has also established a hub in Xiamen in China. The 
entity will give the entire Group access to lower cost sourcing 
and assembly opportunities, as well as the opportunity to tap 
into the emerging Chinese market.

In 2001, the EU Commission performed an investigation 
of TOMRA’s competition law compliance. Based on this 
investigation, the Commission concluded in March 2006 
that TOMRA in their opinion had foreclosed competition in 
the period 1998 to 2002 in the market for reverse vending 
machines in Austria, Germany, the Netherlands, Norway and 
Sweden by implementing an exclusionary strategy. TOMRA 
appealed the decision to the European General Court. In 
September 2010, the Court issued their judgment where they 
dismissed TOMRA’s appeal both on its substance and on the 
amount of the fine. TOMRA accrued consequently a total of 
28.2 MEUR for the fine and accumulated interest. The amount 
(equal to NOK 225 million) is reported as short term interest-
bearing liabilities in the balance sheet as of 31 December 
2011. TOMRA has appealed the European General Court 
decision to the European Court of Justice, and a hearing took 
place in November 2011. A final decision is expected during 
2012. Reference is also made to note 5, 6 and 25 in the finan-
cial statement. 

US competitor Envipco filed in November 2010 a complaint 
against TOMRA for alleged anti-trust violations. The case 
was settled out of court in June 2011. TOMRA did not pay 
any compensation in relation to the settlement and previously 
accrued legal expenses of USD 1 million related to the case 
were reversed.

material handlinG – east coast
TOMRA picks up, transports, processes, and sells used bever-
age containers on behalf of beverage producers in the eastern 
United States and in Canada. In 2011 this business segment 
contributed total revenues of NOK 563 million, an eight per-
cent organic growth from 2010 measured in USD. 

Beverage consumption and return rates were essentially flat 
during 2011, but the implementation of deposit on water 
bottles in Connecticut and New York in the beginning of 2010 
had also in 2011 some positive effect on volumes in those 
two states. TOMRA does not take title to the materials that 
are collected in these markets and therefore is not exposed to 
swings in commodity prices. The overall performance mirrors 
normally therefore the drinking consumption.

The EBITA increased from NOK 47 million in 2010 to NOK 
65 million in 2011.

material handlinG - west coast (discontinued  
operations)
TOMRA’s activities within material handling in California 
have been tied to the collection and processing of used beverage 
containers. Collection occurred through a network of recycling 
centers which are operated on behalf of food retailers, who have 
an obligation to ensure that a satisfactory recycling solution is 
available within a certain proximity to their stores.

In California TOMRA has taken ownership of the mate-
rial which is collected through its own infrastructure. 
Consequently TOMRA has been exposed to swings in com-
modity prices, particularly aluminum. Aluminum prices 
decreased significantly thru 2011, but as most of the 2011 
volumes were sold at favorable rates in the beginning of the 
year, TOMRA actually experienced a positive impact from 
aluminum prices in 2011 compared to 2010.

On the other hand, TOMRA has also received handling and 
processing fees from the state of California for operating the 
collection infrastructure and processing the material that is 
collected. These fees were reduced in 2011, more than offset-
ting the positive impact from aluminum prices. EBITA was 
consequently reduced from NOK 44 million in 2010 to NOK 
29 million in 2011.

The Californian business model has proven challenging to operate, 
where exposure to shifts in commodity prices as well as state sub-
sidies have made performance volatile. With little synergies with 
the rest of TOMRA, it was therefore decided to divest the unit.
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On 31 December 2011, TOMRA consequently communi-
cated that the West Coast activities within material handling 
were divested, as the assets of Tomra Pacific where sold 
to rePlanet LLC, a newly formed entity backed by the Buff 
Investment Group. The total consideration for the transac-
tion was USD 28.4 million, generating a loss of NOK 40 mil-
lion. The loss as well as the net result from the operations in 
California is reported as “Loss from discontinued operations” 
in the profit and loss statement. Previous reporting periods 
have been restated accordingly.

industrial processinG technoloGy (ipt)
TOMRA established itself in the waste and material sorting 
and processing market with the acquisitions of TITECH in 
2004, Commodas GmbH in 2006, and UltraSort in 2008 
(the latter two companies were combined in 2009 to form 
CommodasUltrasort). TITECH’s solutions allow large mate-
rial processing facilities to sort greater amounts of materi-
als such as plastic and paper at a lower cost and with greater 
precision than with traditional labor-intensive methods. The 
solutions provided by CommodasUltrasort enable advanced 
recognition and sorting of high value materials such as met-
als, plastic, glass, minerals and gem stones. Together TITECH, 
CommodasUltrasort, and the recently acquired Odenberg (see 
below), make the world’s leading provider of sensor-based 
systems for material recognition and sorting. By the end of 
2011, more than 5,000 systems in 40 countries on all conti-
nents have been installed.

All the companies within the IPT segment had significant 
declines in revenues and profits in 2009. The most important 
customer group in this segment is waste management com-
panies, which have business models that to a certain degree 
are focused on extracting the commodity value which waste 
material represents. During times of falling commodity prices, 
sorting and recycling becomes less profitable and conse-
quently the demand for equipment to execute these tasks also 
declines. Access to capital also became more difficult for many 
customers in 2009, which also negatively impacted their abil-
ity to invest in equipment. During 2010, the segment experi-
enced a strong rebound, as commodity prices again climbed. 
The rebound has continued through 2011, and revenues for 
the IPT segment equaled NOK 1,100 million in 2011 (NOK 
691 million in 2010). Adjusted for currency changes and 
acquisitions/divestments, revenues in the segment increased 
by 19 percent. The order intake also increased during 2011 
and the order book at the end of 2011 was NOK 283 million, 
up from NOK 181 million at the end of 2010.

The sorting technology platform can be scaled and used 
toward a wide range of application areas, and this is also the 
motivation behind the acquisition of Odenberg in January 
2011. Odenberg is a leading provider of advanced sorting 
and processing technology to the international food pro-
cessing industry. Established in 1968, Odenberg today has 
171 people employed across locations in Dublin (Ireland), 
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Sacramento (California), Pezinok (Slovakia) and Ljsselstein 
(The Netherlands) and serves several of the world’s top 10 
food manufacturers. More than 2,000 Odenberg optical sort-
ing systems have been sold worldwide. The acquisition of 
Odenberg represents another important step towards realizing 
TOMRA’s strategy of strengthening its market position and 
product offering within sensor-based sorting. In addition to 
representing an interesting growth case on its own, Odenberg 
is a strong strategic fit with TOMRA. Odenberg brings to the 
table both unique, patented technology and leading market 
positions in several fast-growing segments of the food sorting 
and processing industry. Together, TOMRA and Odenberg 
will have a strong market presence and an unrivaled technol-
ogy base from which to grow further. In the acquisition of 
Odenberg, TOMRA paid a consideration corresponding to 
an enterprise value of EUR 55 million. The transaction was 
settled with cash (see also disclosure note 23). The integration 
process of Odenberg was finished in June 2011. In October 
2011, Odenberg launched their new “Halo” sorter, which uti-
lizes several recognition technologies in parallel, significantly 
improving the accuracy in the scanning. The market accep-
tance has been good.

The geographic expansion in the IPT segment continued in 
2011, with 44 percent of revenues outside Europe, up from 
41 percent in 2010.

The market for smaller vertical balers, where Orwak is a key 
player in Europe, had a flat development in 2011. Exposed to 
both high steel prices and a strong SEK, performance was not 
satisfactory in the first half of 2011, with EBITA close to zero. 
Performance has improved during second half of 2011, due 
to a combination of a weaker SEK, lower steel prices and effi-
ciency gains.

research and development activities
Research and development activities are a high priority at 
TOMRA. R&D has a central role in the development of the 
individual technology units, and is closely connected to the 
local markets in order to ensure that TOMRA maintains its 
technological advantage. Research and development activities, 
as well as other future-oriented projects, were expensed at 
NOK 190 million. The comparative figure for 2010 was NOK 
173 million. In addition has NOK 24 million been capitalized 
(2010: NOK 20 million).These activities were directed pri-
marily toward the development of automated return systems 
(Collection Technology) in addition to further development of 
recognition and sorting technology in IPT.

financial risk
The Board of Directors is focused on making sure that there is 
a systematic and deliberate approach to managing risk within 
all segments of the corporation, and considers this as a prereq-
uisite for long-term value creation for the company’s share-
holders, employees, and other stakeholders. Opportunities 
for growth shall always be weighed up against the associated 
risks. TOMRA faces normal business risks related to contrac-
tual agreements with for example customers and suppliers. 
In addition there are several macro trends that can affect the 
industry in which TOMRA operates. A reduction in recycling 
targets and ambitions, as well as falling material commodity 
prices would negatively influence TOMRA as the need for 
advanced recycling technology would become less obvious. 

TOMRA’s operations are also influenced by political decisions, 
specifically with regard to deposit legislation. If a country or 
state decides to remove its existing deposit system there will be 
limited incentives for TOMRA’s customers to maintain current 
or invest in new TOMRA equipment. In some markets, like 
for example in the United States, an elimination of the deposit 
legislation would immediately dissolve the foundation for 
TOMRA’s daily operations. On the other hand, the implemen-
tation or expansion of deposit systems in a country or state will 
create new growth opportunities for TOMRA.

Responsibility for financing, cash management and finan-
cial risk management is handled by the Finance Department 
within Tomra Systems ASA. Historically, TOMRA has seldom 
experienced losses on accounts receivable, and the corpora-
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tion’s routines concerning credit approval are considered as 
satisfactory. TOMRA’s surplus cash is placed primarily in 
NOK with duration of less than six months. Interest-bearing 
debt is normally denominated in NOK, at interest rates fixed 
for a period of less than six months.

TOMRA is exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange 
rates. With 95 percent of its income in foreign currencies, 
a strengthening of NOK will lead to reduced earnings for 
the Group when measured in this currency. The majority of 
risk is connected to swings in EUR and USD. TOMRA takes 
advantage of forward exchange contracts to hedge future cash 
flows in foreign currencies. As of the end of 2011, no hedge 
accounting was applied to any of TOMRA’s contracts.

In addition TOMRA has implemented the financial risk 
management systems one would expect given the size and 
complexity of the company’s operations. A more extensive 
description of TOMRA’s internal control procedures and sys-
tems for evaluating financial risk are provided on page 19 in 
this report.

corporate responsibility and Governance
our social and environmental enGaGement 
TOMRA makes a significant contribution to a cleaner and 
more sustainable world through its products and services. As 
a result, TOMRA has always had a significant focus on the 
environment, measuring and reporting its environmental per-
formance since 1998. As TOMRA expands its focus to address 
the other corporate responsibility (CR) areas, the Board sup-
ports TOMRA’s membership of the UN Global Compact, 
which provides a recognized framework for integrating 
CR principles into operations and strategies. This annual 
report forms the basis of TOMRA’s first Communication on 
Progress, required annually in the UN Global Compact. Tomra 
Systems ASA is also certified according to the ISO 14001 
standard for environmental leadership. TOMRA’s five-year 
environmental program has been expanded to include other 
CR topics, with particular focus on corruption and other risk 
areas. 

TOMRA is ranked number 39 on the Corporate Knights list 
of the Global 100 most sustainable companies. Further details 
about TOMRA’s corporate responsibility targets and impact 
on the environment are presented on pages 12 and 13 of this 
report.

orGanization, health, and safety
The number of employees in the TOMRA Group was 1,786 at 
the end of 2011, up from 1,419 at the end of 2010. In Norway 
the number of employees went up from 245 at year-end 2010 
to 266 at the end of 2011.

TOMRA facilitates equal opportunity for professional and 
personal development for all employees and does not discrim-
inate on the basis of race, color, religion, gender, natural origin, 

age, disability, sexual orientation or veteran status. These are 
important principles which are firmly anchored in the com-
pany’s Corporate Responsibility Statement and the Code of 
Conduct and communicated to all employees.

All of the companies within TOMRA participated in an 
international survey coordinated by the organization “Great 
Place to Work” in 2011 which also rates how well employees 
consider the company lives up to its principles. The Board of 
Directors considers the principles and guidelines the company 
has in place for discrimination and equal access to be suffi-
cient, and that no further actions are necessary to satisfy legal 
requirements.

Female employees made up 18 percent of TOMRA’s work 
force and held 18 percent of its management positions at the 
end of 2011, a change from 19 and 19 percent respectively in 
2010. Three of TOMRA’s seven board directors are women. 
The number of employees that are considered ethnic minori-
ties in the countries in which they are employed was 12% at 
the end of 2011, down from 13% last year.

The number of job-related injuries in TOMRA requiring 
medical attention beyond basic first aid was 109, up from 92 
in 2010. Most of these instances occurred within TOMRA’s 
material handling activities in the USA, which involve han-
dling crushed glass and heavy lifting. TOMRA continuously 
strives to reduce the injury rate and has implemented further 
preventative measures after identifying more contributing 
factors. The absence rate due to illness in Tomra Systems ASA 
went up from 1.8 percent in 2010 to 2.5 percent in 2011.

Tomra Systems ASA is certified according to ISO 9001 and 
this standard is used to guide the company’s quality assurance 
procedures. TOMRA also applies an internal management sys-
tem that incorporates goal- and result-orientation throughout 
the entire organization, including performance and leadership 
evaluation.

corporate Governance
TOMRA defines corporate governance as those processes 
and control structures which are established to protect the 
interests of the company’s shareholders and other stakeholder 
groups. TOMRA’s guidelines for corporate governance, core 
values and leadership principles are aligned to ensure sustain-
able development of the company. These guidelines include 
the role of the Board and its various committees, requirements 
concerning the impartiality of its board members, and board 
compensation. TOMRA’s corporate governance policy can be 
found at page 17 in this report. In 2011 the Board had seven 
meetings, with an attendance record of 98 percent.

rebrandinG tomra - new reportinG format
During the past decade TOMRA has expanded through a 
series of strategic acquisitions of leading technology providers 
within complementary business areas. In order to maximize 
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synergies among these business areas and meet our custom-
ers’ and the world’s challenges and opportunities, TOMRA 
is now merging the existing brands in the Group or under a 
strong, unified TOMRA brand.  To guide this transforma-
tion, TOMRA has redefined its mission and vision to provide 
a clear, aligned positioning and unification for the company 
across all markets and the global community. The company 
has chartered a path to becoming one organization with a uni-
fied purpose, greater and more valuable than its individual 
parts, leading to greater economies of scale and higher per-
ceived brand value.

TOMRA’s redefined mission is to create sensor-based solu-
tions for optimal resource productivity.  The mission has been 
carefully developed through an extensive review among both 
internal and external stakeholders, and going forward will 
serve as the primary filter for the company’s strategic business 
decisions.

With increasing world population and higher consumption 
levels, it is clear that resource productivity must increase on 

a global scale to ensure sustainable development. Society is at 
the dawn of a resource revolution, and TOMRA’s vision state-
ment, “Leading the resource revolution,” captures its aspira-
tions in terms of leading the way in providing innovative 
solutions for obtaining, using, reusing, and optimizing the 
world’s resources. The company will lead the resource revolu-
tion within the business streams of reverse vending, material 
recovery, compaction, recycling, mining, and food.

The goal of the company therefore is to create sensor-based 
solutions for optimal resource productivity, making sustain-
ability profitable – with increased relevance and meaning. In 
this way, the company intends to foster a culture that inspires 
and motivates its people and customers.

As a consequence of the transformation, the Group will going 
forward comprise of two business units:

Collection Solutions: Includes the former Collection 
Technology (development, production, sales and service 
of reverse vending machines and related data management 
systems) + Material Handling (pick-up, transportation and 
processing of empty beverage containers on behalf of bever-
age producers/fillers on the US East Coast and in Canada) + 
Orwak (Small and mid-size compaction machines).

Sorting Solutions: Includes TITECH, CommodasUltrasort 
and Odenberg, (providers of advanced optical sorting sys-
tems).

prospects for the future
The world experienced in 2009 a global recession, with falling 
economic activity in many of TOMRA’s principal markets. 
Activity level increased in 2010, and continued to increase 
2011. At the start of 2012 outlook for both the European and 
North American economies represents a somewhat mixed pic-
ture, with large regional differences.

There are strong underlying macro trends that are working in 
favor of TOMRA’s business. The amount of waste produced 
in the world is increasing year by year, the focus on environ-
mental protection is strong, and legislation continues to be 
introduced that either encourages or requires effective recy-
cling solutions. The long-term outlook for TOMRA should 
consequently be promising. At the same time, a new recession 
could in the short term have a negative impact on some of our 
segments.

collection solutions
Almost all supermarkets in the established deposit markets 
have automated their return of bottles and cans. These mar-
kets therefore represent mainly replacement opportunities 
and significant after-markets with regard to service. The global 
installed base of close to 70,000 machines generates a steady 
income stream with high percentage of recurring revenues.
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In addition to this, new markets will from time to time mate-
rialize. The timing of this is not possible to predict, as they are 
heavily dependent upon the outcome of political processes. 
The Board is currently not aware of any new process that has 
the potential to generate significant new revenues in 2012, 
but in a 2-5 year horizon, new markets might open up.

Due to the order from the Dutch retailer which was installed 
in 2011, sales of new machines might be somewhat lower in 
2012 compared to 2011. The reduction is assumed to be off-
set by somewhat higher activity on service. 

sortinG solutions
This segment sells material sorting and processing solutions. 
Important customer groups include waste management 
companies, various types of industries (including mining) as 
well as the retail trade. The business models of our custom-
ers vary considerably. Many operate within jurisdictions that 
have regulated requirements concerning recycling. The key 
aspect is being able to make recycling as efficient as possible. 
TOMRA’s products are therefore less exposed to a drop in 
demand in such markets. Other customers operate within 
systems in which the value of materials taken out of the waste 
stream is the most important incentive to conduct recycling. 
Performance in these markets is for that reason exposed to 
fluctuations in commodity prices.

As long as the regions TOMRA currently operate in do not 
experience recessions, it is assumed that Sorting Solutions 
will continue to grow in the years to come.

currency
A weaker NOK is positive for TOMRA, both because the 
Group has significant activities abroad that are denominated 
in foreign currencies and appear therefore more profitable 
measured in NOK, and because TOMRA has a certain cost 
base in NOK tied to development activities and headquarter 
functions. For a broader review of currency sensitivities, refer 
to note 19.

shareholders and capital
The number of TOMRA shareholders was reduced from 7,549 
at the end of 2010 to 6,932 at the end of 2011. The amount 
of shares held by Norwegian residents at the end of 2011 
was 27 percent, down from 45 percent at the end of 2010. 
The TOMRA share price rose from NOK 38.80 at the end of 
2010 to NOK 40.10 at the end of 2011. A total of 91 mil-
lion TOMRA shares were traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
in 2011, down from 108 million shares the year before. In 
December 2011, the Swedish-based company Investment AB 
Latour, acquired Orkla’s 15.5% stake in TOMRA, and with 
this became TOMRA’s largest shareholder. 

TOMRA places an emphasis on having a good dialogue with 
the investor market and has in recent years several times been 
named the best Nordic and/or Norwegian IR-company in 

its class in the annual awards presented by REGI/ Burson-
Marsteller (which are based on interviews of analysts and 
investors). 

The face value of each share is NOK 1. The total number 
of outstanding shares at year-end 2011 was 148,020,078, 
including 133,309 treasury shares held by TOMRA. TOMRA 
has during the last six years performed several share buy-
back programs, buying back a total of 30 million shares. The 
buyback program has been financed through cash flow from 
operations, combined with bank loans.

TOMRA entered in June 2011 into a NOK 500 million 
three-year term loan with Eksportfinans AS. TOMRA has in 
addition a revolving credit facility with DnB of NOK 500 mil-
lion expiring in January 2016. Beyond this the Group has an 
ongoing credit limit of NOK 50 million on its operating cash 
account. By the end of 2011 TOMRA will have a gearing equal 
to ~0.7 (Net interest-bearing debt/EBITDA, measured on 
2011 performance).

Taking the company’s relatively stable cash flow, solid bal-
ance sheet and unrealized credit facility into consideration, 
the Board of Directors is of the opinion that the company has 
the necessary financial flexibility to take advantage of possible 
growth opportunities.

The Board wishes to motivate the company’s employees to 
invest in the company’s shares. A share purchase program 
was therefore established in 2008 that offers employees the 
opportunity to buy shares at current market rates, and for 
every five shares held for at least one year, one share is given 
free of charge. The Board will recommend at the general 
assembly that the program should be continued, limited to a 
total of 500,000 shares per year.

subsequent events
On 19 January 2012, an extraordinary general meeting took 
place in Asker, where Jan Svensson (CEO Latour), replaced 
Per Sørlie (Orkla) as board member. At the same time Eric 
Douglas (Board member Latour), replaced Ole Dahl (Orkla) as 
member of the nomination committee.

asker, 16 february 2012

Svein Rennemo
Chairman

Jan Svensson  
Board member

Hege Marie Norheim 
Board member

Aniela Gjøs 
Board member

Bernd H.J. Bothe
Board member

David Williamson
Employee representative

Ingrid Solberg              
Employee representative

Stefan Ranstrand
President & CEO
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         Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                              Group 
                    NGAAP                                                                                                               IFRS 

 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million Note 2011 2010
 
 962.9  910.6  Operating revenues 1 3,689.8  3,050.2 

 524.3  497.0  Cost of goods sold 2 1,469.4  1,154.3 
 152.2  149.7  Employee benefits expenses 3,17 1,015.2  879.4 
 7.8  5.5  Ordinary depreciation 9,10 181.5  157.5 
  -   -  Write-down of non-current assets 9,10 3.4  - 
 63.7  77.4  Other operating expenses 7 395.1  389.0 
 748.0  729.6  Total operating expenses  3,064.6  2,580.2 
       
 214.9  181.0  Operating profit before other items  625.2  470.0 

 0.0  230.8  Other items 25 0.0  244.6 

 214.9  (49.8) Operating profit  625.2  225.4 
 
 45.3  38.0  Financial income  7.5  10.6 
 34.8  14.9  Financial expenses  36.6  20.4 
 10.5  23.1  Net financial items 4 (29.1) (9.8)

  -   -  Profit from associates 16 7.4  3.0 

 225.4  (26.7) Results before taxes from continuing  
   operations  603.5  218.6 

 62.9  68.2  Taxes 11 163.6  132.0 

   Profit/(Loss) from discontinued operations 24 (21.4)  26.9

 162.5  (94.9) Profit for the period  418.5  113.5 
       
   Attributable to:    
   Shareholders of the parent  382.0  73.7 
   Non-controlling interest  36.5  39.8 
   Profit for the period  418.5  113.5 
 
   Allocated as follows: 21   
 155.3  88.8  Dividend    
 7.2  (183.7) Other equity    
 162.5  (94.9) Total allocated   
   
   Earnings per share, basic (NOK) 21 2.58 0.50
   Earnings per share, diluted (NOK) 21 2.58 0.50
   Earnings per share from continuing  
   operations, basic (NOK)  2.72 0.32
   Earnings per share from continuing  
   operations, diluted (NOK)  2.72 0.32

Income Statement

Other comprehensive income
                          Group 
                                                IFRS
 
Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
  
Profit for the period     418.5   113.5 
       
Foreign exchange translation differences     21.0   0.3 
Total other comprehensive income     21.0   0.3 
       
Total comprehensive income for the period     439.5   113.8 
 
Attributable to:    
Shareholders of the parent company     401.4   73.2 
Non-controlling interest     38.1   40.6 
Total comprehensive income for the period     439.5   113.8 
 

financial statements



Balance sheet as of 31 December

                                    Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                        Group     
                                             NGAAP                                                                                                                    IFRS 

 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million Note 2011 2010

ASSETS 35.3  36.2  Deferred tax assets 11 96.9  99.1 

  -   -  Goodwill 10,23 1,087.8  777.1 
  -   -  Development costs 10 52.5  50.6 
 15.8  8.5  Other intangible assets 10 153.7  47.6 
 15.8  8.5  Total intangible non-current assets  1,294.0  875.3 
 
 14.7  13.2  Property, plant and equipment 9 336.5  404.2 
  -   -  Leasing equipment 9 190.6  163.3 
 14.7  13.2  Total tangible non-current assets  527.1  567.5 

 1,647.2  1,626.5  Investment in subsidiaries 15,23  -   - 
 1,150.7  376.8  Loan to subsidiaries 15  -   - 
  -   -  Investment in associates 16 37.1  31.2 
  -   -  Other investments  0.8  0.8 
 8.5  3.1  Long term receivables 8 226.1  164.7 
 2,806.4  2,006.4  Total financial non-current assets  264.0  196.7 
 
 2,872.2  2,064.3  Total non-current assets  2,182.0  1,738.6 
 
 13.9  19.0  Inventory 2 627.0  524.3 
 
 8.4  0.8  Trade receivables  722.9  737.7 
 356.2  686.4  Intra-group receivables   -   - 
 18.6  17.3  Other short-term receivables  289.2  248.1 
 383.2  704.5  Total receivables 7 1,012.1  985.8 
 
 74.9  34.9  Cash and cash equivalents 18 178.3  56.6 
       
 472.0  758.4  Total current assets  1,817.4  1,566.7 
       
 3,344.2  2,822.7  Total assets  3,999.4  3,305.3  

LIAbILITIES 148.0  148.0  Share capital  148.0  148.0 
AND EQUITY (0.1)  -  Treasury shares  (0.1)  - 
 918.3  918.3  Share premium reserve  918.3  918.3 
 1,066.2  1,066.3  Paid-in capital  1,066.2  1,066.3 
 
 718.2  714.7  Retained earnings  1,074.9  766.0 
 -   -    Non-controlling interest  75.8  68.4 
 1,784.4   1,781.0  Total equity 21 2,216.9  1,900.7 
 
  -   -  Deferred tax liabilities 11 40.4  29.2 
 30.5  27.6  Pension liabilities 17 30.5  27.6 
 500.0  226.1  Interest-bearing liabilities 6 514.7  233.9 
  -   -  Other long-term liabilities  2.3  2.1 
 46.5   -  Loan from subsidiaries   -   - 
 577.0  253.7  Total non-current liabilities  587.9  292.8 
       
 225.1  250.0  Interest-bearing liabilities 6 225.8  250.0 
 18.2  17.9  Trade payables  205.2  200.8 
 414.9  258.1  Intra-group debt   -   - 
 62.0  63.3  Income tax payable 11 130.6  134.5 
 18.3  21.5  Provisions 13 131.3  129.6 
 244.3  177.2  Other current liabilities 12 501.7  396.9 
 982.8  788.0  Total current liabilities  1,194.6  1,111.8 
 
 1,559.8  1,041.7  Total liabilities  1,782.5  1,404.6 
 
 3,344.2  2,822.7  Total liabilities and equity  3,999.4  3,305.3 
 
 114.0  109.7  Warranty liabilities  115.8  112.7 

Asker, 16 February 2012      
      
Svein Rennemo Jan Svensson Bernd H.J. Bothe Hege Marie Norheim Aniela Gjøs David Williamson Ingrid Solberg               Stefan Ranstrand
Chairman board member board member board member board member Employee representative Employee representative President & CEO
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

            Total equity
         attributable to Non-
Group IFRS Paid-in Translation Retained       the owners of  controlling Total
Amounts in NOK million capital reserve earnings        the company interest Equity
      
Balance per 1 January 2010 1,066.4  (199.7) 978.1  1,844.8  57.9  1,902.7 
      
Profit for the period   73.7  73.7  39.8  113.5 
Changes in translation differences  (0.5)  (0.5) 0.8  0.3 
Total comprehensive income for the period 0.0  (0.5) 73.7  73.2  40.6  113.8 
      
Transactions with shareholders      
Disposal of subsidiaries/ 
dividend non-controlling interest    0.0  (30.1) (30.1)
Purchase of own shares (0.2)  (6.5) (6.7)  (6.7)
Own shares sold to employees 0.1   2.3  2.4   2.4 
Dividend to shareholders   (81.4) (81.4)  (81.4)
Total transactions with shareholders (0.1) 0.0  (85.6) (85.7) (30.1) (115.8)
      
Balance per 31 December 2010 1,066.3  (200.2) 966.2  1,832.3  68.4  1,900.7 
      
Profit for the period   382.0  382.0  36.5  418.5 
Changes in translation differences  19.4   19.4  1.6  21.0 
Total comprehensive income for the period 0.0  19.4  382.0  401.4  38.1  439.5 
      
Transactions with shareholders      
Disposal of subsidiaries/ 
dividend non-controlling interest    0.0  (30.7) (30.7)
Purchase of own shares (0.3)  (9.8) (10.1)  (10.1)
Own shares sold to employees 0.2   6.0  6.2   6.2 
Dividend to shareholders   (88.7) (88.7)  (88.7)
Total transactions with shareholders (0.1) 0.0  (92.5) (92.6) (30.7) (123.3)
      
Balance per 31 December 2011 1,066.2  (180.8) 1,255.7  2,141.1  75.8  2,216.9 
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Cash flow analysis

                 Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                              Group 
                          NGAAP                                                                                                               IFRS 
 
 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010

   CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
  225.4   (26.7) Ordinary profit/(loss) before taxes  603.5   218.6 
  (63.3)  (93.5) Income taxes paid  (153.5)  (119.8)
  (0.4)  -   (Gains)/losses from sales of fixed assets  -    27.0 
  7.8   5.5  Depreciations  194.5   172.9 
  -    -   Write-down non-current assets  3.4   -  
  5.1   14.4  Net change in inventory  (55.0)  (36.5)
  (14.3)  (2.9) Net change in receivables  (138.1)  (45.3)
  0.2   (2.0) Net change in payables  45.1   (16.6)
   Difference between booked costs on pension  
  2.9   4.4  funds and actual cash payments to these funds  2.9   4.4 
  -    -   Exchange rate effects  11.9   (24.1)
  -    -   Profit before tax from affiliated companies  (7.4)  -  
  -    -   Dividend from affiliated companies  -    2.9 
 (10.5)  246.2  Changes in other balance sheet items  35.5   333.9 
  (15.6)  (18.2) Interest income/expense  23.6   8.0 
  137.3   127.2  Net cash flow from operating activities  566.4   525.4 
    
   CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
  0.5   -   Proceeds from sales of non-current assets  -    -  
  -    -   Proceeds from sale of subsidiary  65.9   1.0 
  (13.8)  (24.8) Acquisition of subsidiary / Capital infusion  (407.0)  (78.5)
  (16.6)  (14.4) Investment in non-current assets  (216.1)  (229.5)
  (29.9)  (39.2) Net cash flow from investing activities  (557.2)  (307.0)
    
   CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
  (240.3)  125.5  Loan payments (to)/from subsidiaries  -    -  
  (250.0)  (100.0) Repayment of long-term loans  (250.2)  (100.0)
  500.0   -   Proceeds from issuance of long term debt  506.7   8.7 
  -    -   Dividend non-controlling interest  (28.2)  (30.1)
  -    (16.5) Net change bank overdraft  -    (16.5)
  (10.1)  (6.7) Purchase of treasury shares  (10.1)  (6.7)
  6.2   2.4  Sale of treasury shares  6.2   2.4 
  45.3   30.2  Interest received  6.9   6.5 
  (29.7)  (12.0) Interest paid  (30.5)  (14.6)
  (88.8)  (81.4) Dividend paid  (88.8)  (81.4)
  (67.4)  (58.5) Net cash flow from financing activities  112.0   (231.7)
    
  -    -   Currency effect on cash  0.5   1.8 
  40.0   29.5  Net change in cash and cash equivalents  121.7   (11.5)
  34.9   5.4  Cash and cash equivalents per 1 January  56.6   68.1 
  74.9   34.9  Cash and cash equivalents per 31 December  178.3   56.6 
    
    

Changes in other balance sheet items for 2010 consists mainly of the accrual for the fine from the EU-commission,  
see note 5 and 6 for further description.    
 
The Cash flow analysis contains cash flow from continuing and discontinued operations.  
See note 24 for cash flow from discontinued operations.    
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Consolidation and accounting principles  

Group - IFRS

GenerAL

Business concept and customers

Tomra Systems ASA (the “Company”) is a  

company domiciled in Norway. The registered office 

is Drengsrudhagen 2, Asker. 

TOMRA’s goal is to create sensor-based solutions for 

optimal resource productivity, making sustainability 

profitable – with increased relevance and meaning. 

In parallel, TOMRA fosters a culture that inspires 

and motivates its people and customers. Added 

value is created for each customer through  

excellence in service and innovation. 

TOMRA’s customers are mainly located in Europe 

and North America.

Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of the 

Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 

comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and 

joint ventures (together referred to as the “Group”) 

and the Group’s interest in associates. The finan-

cial statements consist of the income statement, 

other comprehensive income, balance sheet, cash 

flow analysis, consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and notes to the accounts.  

The financial statements were authorized for issue 

by the Directors on 16 February 2012, and will be 

presented for final approval at the general meeting 

on 26 April 2012. Until the final approval by the  

general meeting, the board can authorize changes 

to the financial statement. 

   

(a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by EU, 

and the additional disclosure requirements of the 

Norwegian accounting act as at 31 December 2011.

  

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in NOK, 

rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand. 

The financial statements are prepared based on his-

torical cost, except for the following material items:

•	 Derivative	financial	instruments	recognized	at	fair	

value through profit and loss. 

•	 Defined	benefit	obligation	recognized	as	the	net	

total of the plan assets, plus unrecognized past 

service cost and unrecognized actuarial losses, 

less unrecognized actuarial gains and the present 

value of the defined benefit obligation.

The financial statements are prepared on a going 

concern basis.

The preparation of financial statements in  

accordance with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of policies and reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities, income and expense. The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, 

the results of which form the basis of determining 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates. 

  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to account-

ing estimates are recognized in the period in which 

the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 

that period, or in the period of the revision and 

future periods if the revision affects both current 

and future periods.

The accounting policies set out below have been 

applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies have been applied  

consistently by each Group entity.

From 1 January 2010 new IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations and new IAS 27 Consolidation and 

Separate Financial Statement have been implemented.

The most important change is that costs related to 

the acquisition, other than those associated with 

the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 

incurs in connection with a business combination 

are expensed as incurred.
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ConSoLidAtion prinCipLeS

(a) Consolidated companies
The consolidated accounts include the parent 
company Tomra Systems ASA and companies 
in which the parent company has a controlling 
influence.  Subsidiaries acquired or sold during 
the course of the year are included in the 
income statement as of the date that control 
commenced until the date that control ceased.

(b) elimination of shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated on the 
basis of the past equity method. The difference 
between the book value of shares in subsidiaries 
and book value of the subsidiaries’ equity at 
the time such shares were acquired is analyzed 
and posted to the balance sheet items to which 
the excess amounts relate. Goodwill represents 
the excess of the purchase price paid for  
acquisitions above net assets acquired and is 
tested for impairment at least annually.

(c) Currency translation for  
foreign subsidiaries
The profit and loss statements for foreign 
subsidiaries prepared in foreign currencies are 
translated on the basis of average exchange 
rates for the year. The balance sheet is 
converted on the basis of the exchange rates 
on December 31. Translation differences are 
shown as a separate item and charged directly 
to the Group’s equity.

When foreign subsidiaries are sold, completely 
or partially, the associated translation differ-
ence is recognized in the profit and loss.

(d) non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests’ share of the net 
profit and equity are classified as separate 
items in the income statement and balance 
sheet.

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are 
accounted for as transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners and therefore no 
goodwill is recognized as a result of such trans-
actions. The adjustments to non-controlling 
interests are based on a proportionate amount 
of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Previously, goodwill was recognized on the 
acquisition of non-controlling interests in a 
subsidiary, which represented the excess of the 
cost of the additional investment over the  
carrying amount of the interest in the net as-
sets acquired at the date of the transaction.

(e) Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using 
the acquisition method as at the acquisition 
date, which is the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. Control is the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. In assessing control, the Group takes 
into consideration potential voting rights that 
currently are exercisable.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than 
those associated with the issue of debt or 
equity securities, that the Group incurs in 
connection with a business combination are 
expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is 
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. 
If the contingent consideration is classified as 
equity, it is not remeasured and settlement 
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, 
subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration are recognized in 
profit and loss.

For accounting of goodwill see Valuation and 
Classification principles (f) Goodwill.

(f) internal transactions/ 
intercompany items
All purchases and sales between Group 
companies, intra Group expenses, as well as 
receivables and liabilities have been eliminated 
in the consolidated statements.

(g) Joint Ventures
Joint Ventures are those entities over whose 
activities the Group has joint control, estab-
lished by contractual agreement and requiring 
unanimous consent for strategic financial and 
operating decisions. Jointly controlled entities 
are accounted for using proportionate consoli-
dation line by line in the consolidated income 

statement and balance sheet and statement 
of cash flow. 

(h) Associates
Associates, in which TOMRA has an ownership 
interest of 20-50% and significant influence 
over operational and financial decisions, are 
included in the consolidated accounts based 
on the equity method. The Group’s share of 
the profit from associates is reported under 
financial items in the income statement and as 
operating activities in the statement of cash 
flow.

VALuAtion And CLASSifiCAtion  
prinCipLeS

estimations
The preparation of the annual accounts of 
TOMRA involves the use of estimates. The esti-
mates are based on a number of assumptions 
and forecasts that, by their nature, involve  
uncertainty. Various factors could cause  
TOMRA’s actual results to differ materially 
from those projected in the estimates. This 
includes, but is not limited to, 1) cash flow 
forecast from business units supporting the 
carrying amount of goodwill and deferred tax 
assets, 2) provisions for warranty, 3) assump-
tions for calculation of pension obligation and 
4) provisions for legal expenses related to 
lawsuits.

(a) revenue recognition 
Revenue on product sales and sales-type 
leases of the company’s products is generally 
recognized at the time of installation.  Revenue 
on service contracts and operating leases of 
the company’s products is recognized over 
the terms of the related agreements.  Other 
service revenue is recognized when services 
are provided.

(b) Cost recognition 
Costs are expensed in the period that the  
income to which they relate is recognized. 
Costs that can not be directly related to 
income are expensed as incurred.

tomra Systems ASA

europe
Tomra Europe AS (N)
Tomra Butikksystemer AS (N)
Tomra Systems AB (S)
OY Tomra AB (FIN)
Tomra Systems AS (DK)
Tomra Systems BV (NL)
Tomra Systems GmbH (D)
Tomra Leergutsysteme GmbH (A)
Tomra Systems SA (F)
Tomra Systems NV (BEL)
Tomra s.r.o (CZE) (40 %)
Tomra Baltic OÜ (EST) (40 %)
Tomra Production AS (N)
Retail Services GmbH (D)
Tomra Sorting Solutions AS (N)
Titech GmbH (D)
Titech Visionsort Espana S.L. (E)
Titech Visionsort Limited (UK)
Titech sp. Z.O.O. (P)
Tomra Sorting Solutions SRL (F)
Tomra Sorting Solutions Sro (Slovakia)
Odenberg AS (N)

Odenberg Engineering Ltd (Ireland)
Odenberg Engineering SRL (Italia)
Odenberg Engineering BV (NL)
Commodas Mining GmbH (D)
Orwak Group AB (S)
AB Orwak (S)
Morinders Verkstäder AB (S)
Orwak Polen ZPZOO (P)
Tomra Systems Ltd. (UK)
Van den Berg & Partners (UK)

north-America
Tomra of  North America Inc. (CT)
Tomra of North America Finance  
Company LLC (CT)
Tomra Systems Inc. (CAN)
Tomra Metro LLC (CT, NY)
BICS LLC (74%) (NY)
TNYR LLC (70%) (NY)
Upstate Tomra LLC (54%) (NY)
Tomra Mass. (55%) (MA)
Camco Recycling Inc. (CAN)
Tomra Canada Inc. (CAN)
Tomra Pacific Inc. (CA)
UBCR (51%) (MI)

UltrePET LLC (49%) (NY)
Orwak USA LLC (CT)
Commodas Inc. (CAN)
TOMRA/CBSI LLC (OR)
Returnable Services LLC (ME)
Synergistics LLC (51%) (MI)
Terra Vision (CAN)
Odenberg Inc (USA)

rest of the world
Titech Japan KK (JAP)
Tomra Japan Ltd. (50%) (JAP)
Titech Visionsort Co,. Ltd. (KOR)
Commodas (PTY) Ltd. (South Africa)
UltraSort PTY Ltd. (Australia)
Tomra Environmental Protection Technology 
(Xiamen) Co.Ltd. (China)
Titech Brasil Solucoes EM segregacao LTDA 
(Brazil)

Presona AB (S) was sold in 2010 and Presona 
GmbH was merged with Tomra Systems GmbH 
in 2010.

In 2011 the assets of Tomra Pacific Inc were sold.

REPORTING STRuCTuRE 
The Group’s consolidated amounts comprise the following units:
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(c) expenses 
operating lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases are  
recognized in the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease  
incentives received are recognized in the income 
statement as an integral part of the total lease 
expense. 
   
finance lease payments 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between 
the finance charge and the reduction of the out-
standing liability. The finance charge is allocated to 
each period during the lease term so as to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability.

net financing costs
Net financing costs comprise interest payable on 
borrowings calculated using the effective interest 
rate method, interest receivable on funds invested, 
dividend income, foreign exchange gains and losses, 
and gains and losses on hedging instruments that 
are recognized in the income statement.
   
Interest income is recognized in the income state-
ment as it accrues, using the effective interest 
method. Dividend income is recognized in the 
income statement on the date the entity’s right 
to receive payments is established. The interest 
expense component of finance lease payments is 
recognized in the income statement using the  
effective interest rate method.

(d) derivative financial instruments  
Financial instruments are recognized initially at  
cost and are subsequently stated at fair value.  
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is  
recognized immediately in profit and loss.

(e) property, plant and equipment 
owned assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment are meas-
ured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant 
and equipment.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its 
residual value. Significant components of individual 
assets are assessed and if a component has a useful 
life that is different from the remainder of that  
asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognized in profit and loss on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
each component of an item of property, plant and 
equipment. Land is not depreciated.

If the recoverable amount of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is lower than carrying amount 
the asset will be written down to fair value. 

Leased assets 
Leases where the Group assumes substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. The owner-occupied property 
acquired by way of finance lease is stated at an 
amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at 
inception of the lease, less accumulated deprecia-
tion and impairment losses. 

Subsequent costs 
The Group recognizes in the carrying amount of 
an item of property, plant and equipment the cost 
of replacing part of such an item when that cost is 
incurred if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably. All other costs are recognized in the income 
statement as an expense as incurred. 
   
(f) intangible assets
Intangibles consist of goodwill, development cost, 
entitlement to trademarks and non-competition 
agreements.  

Goodwill
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition 
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. 

For acquisitions on or after 1 January 2010, the 
Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date  
as  the fair value of the consideration transferred 
plus the recognized amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquisition less  the net recognized 
amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable  
assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase 
gain is recognized immediately in profit and loss.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and 
is no longer amortized but tested annually for 
impairment. With respect to associates, the carry-
ing amount of goodwill is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment in the associate.

For acquisitions from 2010 onwards adjustments to 
estimated contingent consideration are included in 
the income statement. Previously such adjustments 
resulted in a corresponding increase or decrease to 
goodwill.

research and development 
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with 
the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical 
knowledge and understanding, is recognized in the 
income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, whereby 
research findings are applied to a plan or design 
for the production of new or substantially improved 
products and processes, is capitalized if the product 
or process is technically and commercially feasible 
and the Group has sufficient resources to complete 
development. The expenditure capitalized includes 
the cost of materials, direct labor and overhead 
costs directly attributable to preparing the asset for 
use. Other development expenditure is recognized 
in the income statement as an expense as incurred. 
Capitalized development expenditure is stated at 
cost less accumulated amortization and impairment 
losses. Straight-line depreciation is applied over the 
economic life of the asset.

The company has not received any material govern-
ment grants.

other intangibles
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the 
Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisa-
tion and impairment losses. Other intangibles are 
amortized over the term of the contract. Impair-
ment-testing was performed at year end where 
there were indications of impairment, see note 10.

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill 
and brands is recognized in profit and loss as an 
expense as incurred.
   
Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible 
assets is capitalized only when it increases the 
future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is 
expensed as incurred. 

(g) Shares 
Shares intended for long-term ownership are 
recorded in the balance sheet under long-term 
investments.  These are valued at acquisition cost, 

unless circumstances, which cannot be regarded 
as of a temporary nature, exist which necessitate a 
lower valuation.

(h) inventory 
Inventories of raw materials are valued at the lower 
of the cost of acquisition and the fair value.  Work 
in progress and finished products are valued at the 
lower of the cost to manufacture or net realizable 
value.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
Spare parts and parts held by service agents are 
valued at cost.  A deduction is made for obsoles-
cence where necessary.

The cost of inventories is based on the weighted 
average cost principle and includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing 
them to their existing location and condition. In 
the case of manufactured inventories and work 
in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of 
overheads based on normal operating capacity.

(i) transactions, receivables and liabilities in 
foreign currencies
Receivables and liabilities are booked at the  
exchange rate at the date of the balance sheet. 
Transactions in profit and loss are booked at 
monthly average exchange rates.

Material single transactions are booked at the trans-
action date exchange rate.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, 
bank deposits, money market funds, and other 
short-term investments with original maturity of 
three months or less. The parent company presents 
total bank deposits in the international cash pool, 
while the subsidiaries present their share of the 
international cash pool as intra-group balances.

(k) pension obligations
Pension obligations related to insured pensions, as 
well as the pension premium reserve, are included 
in the balance sheet using the net principle. See 
Note 17 for further details concerning pension 
obligations.

defined benefit plans
The Group’s net obligation with respect to defined 
benefit pension plans is calculated separately for 
each plan by estimating the amount of future ben-
efit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods. This benefit 
is discounted to determine its present value, and 
any unrecognized past service costs and the fair 
value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount 
rate is approximately equal to the recommendation 
from the Norwegian Accounting Standards Board, 
since there are no factors indicating a deviation 
from the recommendation. The calculation is per-
formed by a qualified actuary using the projected 
unit credit method. When the calculation results in a 
benefit to the Group, the recognized asset is limited 
to the net total of any unrecognized past service 
costs and the present value of any future refunds 
from the plan or reductions in future contributions 
to the plan.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the por-
tion of the increased benefit relating to past service 
by employees is recognized in profit and loss on a 
straight-line basis over the average period until the 
benefits become vested. Where the benefits vest 
immediately, the expense is recognized immediately 
in profit and loss.

Actuarial gains and losses are required to be recog-
nized when the cumulative unrecognized amount 
thereof at the beginning of the period exceeds a 
“corridor”. The corridor is 10 percent of the greater 
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of the present value of the obligation and the fair 
value of the assets. The corridor is calculated  
separately for each plan.

defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is where TOMRA 
pays a fixed contribution to a pension fund and 
where TOMRA has no obligation to pay anything 
more than the contribution. The contribution is 
recognized as employee benefits expenses in profit 
and loss.

TOMRA’s defined contribution plan also includes the 
right to a paid up policy, an element of which is a 
defined benefit. This part of the defined contribu-
tion plan is accounted for as a defined benefit plan 
as described above.

(l) Warranty allocations
A general provision has been made for future war-
ranty costs based on the previous year’s turnover in 
all Group companies.

(m) taxes
The tax charge in the income statement includes 
both taxes payable for the period and the change in 
deferred taxes.  The change in deferred taxes  
reflects future taxes payable resulting from the 
year’s activities.  Deferred taxes are determined 
based on the accumulated result, which falls due 
for payment in future periods.  Deferred taxes 
are calculated on net positive timing differences 
between accounting and tax balance sheet values, 
after offsetting negative timing differences and 
losses carried forward under the liability method. 
See Note 11 “Taxes”.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be 
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realized. 

(n) earnings per share
Earnings per share has been computed based 
upon the weighted average number of common 
shares and share equivalents outstanding during 
each period. Common share equivalent recognizes 
the potential dilutive effects of future exercises of 
common share warrants and employee incentive 
programs payable in company shares.

(o) Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is compiled using the 
indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include 
cash, bank deposits and other short-term invest-
ments with terms not exceeding three months that 
can immediately, and with no material exchange 
rate exposure, be exchanged for cash.

(p) impairment 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, 
other than inventory and deferred tax assets (see 
separate accounting policies), are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful 
life and intangible assets that are not yet available 
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated on an 
annual basis, see note 10.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the car-
rying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognized in the profit and loss.
 
Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
cash-generating units (group of units) and then, to 

reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in 
the unit (group of units), on a pro rata basis.

Calculation of recoverable amount 
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater  
of their net selling price and value in use. In  
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does 
not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

reversals of impairment 
An impairment loss relating to goodwill is not 
reversed.  
   
With respect to other assets, an impairment loss 
is reversed if there has been a change in the esti-
mates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been deter-
mined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized. 
  
(q) dividends 
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the period 
in which they are declared.
 
(r) interest-bearing borrowings 
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially 
at fair value less attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing 
borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any 
difference between cost and redemption value be-
ing recognized in the profit and loss over the period 
of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(s) Share-based payment transactions 
The share option program allows Group employees 
to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value 
of options granted is recognized as an employee 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. 
The fair value is measured at grant date and 
spread over the period during which the employees 
become unconditionally entitled to the options. 
The fair value of the options granted is measured 
using an option pricing model based on the Black & 
Scholes-formula, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. 
The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of share options that 
vest except where forfeiture is only due to share 
prices not achieving the threshold for vesting. 

(t) provisions 
A provision is recognized in the balance sheet 
when the Group has a present legal or construc-
tive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.

Expected incremental legal costs where there is a 
past obligation event with respect to the underlying 
claim are accrued for as provisions. 
   
(u) trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.
   
(v) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the 
Group that is engaged in providing products or 
services that is subject to risks and rewards that are 
different from those of other segments.

Segment information is presented in the same 
format that TOMRA Group’s management uses to 
manage the business.

(w) discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the 
Group’s business that represents a separate major 
line of business or geographical area of operations 
that has been disposed of or is held for sale or 
distribution, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively 
with a view to resale. 

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs 
upon disposal or when the operation meets the 
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. A 
disposal group that is to be abandoned may also 
qualify.

On initial classification as discontinued operations, 
non-current assets are classified as held for sale 
and recognized at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held 
for sale are included in profit and loss, even when 
there is a revaluation. The same applies to gains 
and losses on subsequent remeasurement.

(x) Share Capital
ordinary shares
Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of 
ordinary shares and share options are recognized 
as a deduction from equity.

repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognized as equity is repur-
chased, the amount of the consideration paid, 
including directly attributable costs, is recognized 
as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are 
classified as treasury shares and are presented as a 
deduction from total equity.

(y) new standards and interpretations  
not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to stand-
ards and interpretations are not effective for the 
year ended 31 December 2011, and have not been 
applied in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements:

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of 
a Surface Mine
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and related amend-
ments to IFRS 7 regarding transition
IFRS 7 (Amended) Disclosures – Transfer of Finan-
cial Assets
IAS 12 (Amended) Deferred Tax – Recovery of 
Underlying Assets
IAS 1 (Amended) Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income
IAS 19 (Amended 2011) Employee Benefits
IAS 27 (Amended) Separate Financial Statements
IAS 28 (Amended) Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures
IFRS 7 (Amended) Disclosures – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities
IAS 32 (Amended) Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

TOMRA does not expect any material effects in the 
financial statement from the new standards.  
According to the amendment of IAS 19 actuarial 
gains and losses should be booked in other compre-
hensive income. At 31 December 2011 this amounted 
to 34.4 Mnok.
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Accounting principles 

Tomra Systems ASA - NGAAP

GENERAL

BASIC PRINCIPLES
The financial statements, which have been 
presented in compliance with the Norwegian 
Companies Act, the Norwegian Accounting 
Act and Norwegian generally accepted 
accounting principles, consist of the income 
statement, balance sheet, cash flow state-
ment and notes to the accounts.

The financial statements have been prepared 
based on the fundamental principles  
governing historical cost accounting,  
comparability, continued operations and  
congruence. Transactions are recorded at 
their value at the time of the transaction.  
Income is recognized at the time of delivery 
of goods or services sold. Costs are expensed 
in the period that the income to which they 
relate is recognized.

Estimates and assumptions that may affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabili-
ties and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the period, are  
prepared by management based upon their 
best knowledge at reporting date. Actual 
results may differ from those estimates.

VALuATION AND 
CLASSIFICATION PRINCIPLES

REVENuE RECOGNITION
Machines and parts are sold Ex-works, 
and revenues are recognized when risk is 
transferred to the customer. Other service 
revenue is recognized when services are 
provided.

COST RECOGNITION
Costs are expensed in the period that the 
income to which they relate is recognized. 
Costs that can not be directly related to 
income are expensed as incurred.

START-uP AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Start-up and research and development 
costs are expensed as they are incurred.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are entered in the accounts at 
original cost, with deductions for accumu-
lated depreciation and write-down. If the 
fair value of a fixed asset is lower than book 
value, and the decline in value is not tem-
porary, the fixed asset will be written down 
to fair value. 

based on the acquisition cost, straight-line 
depreciation is applied over the economic 
life of the fixed assets.

SHARES
Shares intended for long-term ownership 
are recorded in the balance sheet under 
long-term investments.  These are valued 
at acquisition cost unless circumstances, 
which cannot be regarded as of a temporary 
nature, exist which necessitate a lower  
valuation.

RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES IN 
FOREIGN CuRRENCIES
Receivables and liabilities are booked at the 
exchange rate at the date of the balance 
sheet. 

One long term loan to Tomra North America 
Inc in foreign currency is considered part of 
the net investment, and is booked at cost 
in NOK.
 
CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in 
hand, bank deposits, money market funds, 
and other short-term investments with 
original maturity of three months or less.

Tomra Systems ASA presents total bank 
deposits in the international cash pool, while 
subsidiaries present their share of the inter-
national cash pool as intra-group balances.

PENSION OBLIGATIONS 
Pension obligations related to insured 
pensions, as well as the pension premium 
reserve, are included in the balance sheet 
using the net principle. See note 17.

Actuarial gains and losses are required to be 
recognized when the cumulative unrecog-

nized amount thereof at the beginning  
of the period exceeds a “corridor”. The  
corridor is 10 percent of the greater of the 
present value of the obligation and the fair 
value of the assets. The corridor is  
calculated separately for each plan.

TAXES
The tax charge in the profit and loss account 
includes both taxes payable for the period 
and the change in deferred taxes.  The 
change in deferred taxes reflects future 
taxes payable resulting from the year’s 
activities.  Deferred taxes are determined 
based on the accumulated result, which falls 
due for payment in future periods.  Deferred 
taxes are calculated on net positive timing 
differences between accounting and tax bal-
ance sheet values, after offsetting negative 
timing differences and losses carried forward 
under the liability method in accordance 
with the rules set out in the Norwegian 
Accounting Standard.  

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement is compiled using 
the indirect method. Cash and cash equiva-
lents include cash, bank deposits and other 
short-term investments with terms not 
exceeding three months that immediately, 
and with no material exchange rate  
exposure, can be exchanged for cash. 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The share option program allows Group 
employees to acquire shares of the 
Company. The fair value of options granted 
is recognized as an employee expense with 
a corresponding increase in equity. The 
fair value is measured at grant date and 
spread over the period during which the 
employees become unconditionally entitled 
to the options. The fair value of the options 
granted is measured using an option  
pricing model based on the black & Scholes-
formula, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were 
granted. The amount recognized as an 
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual 
number of share options that vest, except 
where forfeiture is only due to share prices 
not achieving the threshold for vesting.
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NOTE 1 SEGMENT INFORMATION
         
TOMRA GROUP - IFRS         
       
     Industrial
 Collection  Material  Processing  Group   
Amounts in NOK million Technology  Handling  Technology  Functions  TOTAL   
 
2010
Nordic 473    49    522
Central Europe & UK 1) 956    293    1,249
Rest of Europe 4    65    69
US East & Canada 2) 401  520  100    1,021
US West   0  40    40
Rest of the world 5    144    149
Operating revenues 1,839    520    691    0   3,050 
Gross contribution 875  127  369    1,371
 - in % 48 % 24 % 53 %   45 %
Operating expenses 534  80  244  16  874
EBITA before other items 341   47   125   (16) 497 
 - in % 19 % 9  % 18  %   16  %
     
Amortizations 15  0  12    27
EBIT before other items 326   47   113   (16) 470 
 - in % 18  % 9  % 16  %   15  %
     
Share of profit from associates 3  0  0  0  3
Investments 184  77  37  0  298
Investments in associates 2  29  0  0  31
Assets 1,484  732  933  156  3,305
Liabilities 554  96  121  634  1,405
Depreciation 91  42  25  0  158
Impairment losses recognized in P&L 0  0  0  0  0
Other significant non-cash expenses 0  0  0  0  0

       
2011
Nordic 488    56    544
Central Europe & UK 1) 1,104    471    1,575
Rest of Europe 4    84    88
US East & Canada  2) 407  563  186    1,156
US West   0  109    109
Rest of the world 24    194    218
Operating revenues 2,027    563   1,100    0   3,690 
Gross contribution 954  138  551    1,643
 - in % 47  % 25  % 50  %   45  %
Operating expenses 510  73  375  16  974
EBITA before other items 444   65   176   (16) 669 
 - in % 22  % 12  % 16  %   18  %
     
Amortizations 19  1  24    44
EBIT before other items 425   64   152   (16) 625 
 - in % 21  % 11  % 14  %   17  %
     
Share of profit from associates 5  2  0  0  7
Investments 117  60  473  0  650
Investments in associates 2  35  0  0  37
Assets 1,684    425   1,525    365   3,999
Liabilities  617    63    207    896   1,783
Depreciation  91    46    45    0   182
Impairment losses recognized in P&L 1  0  2  0  3
Other significant non-cash expenses 0  0  0  0  0

TOMRA has divided its primary reporting for-
mat into three business segments: Collection 
Technology, Material Handling and Industrial 
Processing Technology. In addition the corpo-
rate overhead costs are reported in a separate 
column. The split is based upon the risk and 
return profile of the Group’s different activities, 
also taking into consideration TOMRA’s internal 
reporting structure.   
  
Collection Technology consists of the sale, lease 
and servicing of RVMs to stores in Europe and 
North America, and data management systems, 
which monitor container collection volumes and 
related cash flow.   
  
Material Handling consists of pick-ups, transport 
and processing of empty beverage containers 

on behalf of beverage producers/fillers in US 
East and Canada. In 2011 the collection activity  
in California was sold and this has been 
removed from the Material Handling segment 
for 2010 and 2011 and reported as discontinued 
operations. Se note 24.   
  
Industrial Processing Technology consists of 
TiTech/Commodas, Ultrasort and Odenberg, 
which produce optical sorting systems, and 
Orwak Group, a leading provider of compaction 
solutions for recyclables such as cardboard, 
paper and plastics.   
  
Group Functions consists of corporate functions 
at TOMRA’s head office.  
   

Assets and liabilities are distributed to the  
different reporting segments. Cash and interest-
bearing debt, including accrual for EU-penalty 
and tax positions, are allocated to Group 
Functions. Remaining proceeds from the sale 
of Tomra Pacific are also allocated to Group 
Functions.   
  
There is no material segment revenue from 
transactions with other segments.  

The income from service activities was NOK 
1,179 million of total income of NOK 3,690  
million in 2011. The income from service  
activities was NOK 1,066 million in 2010 of  
total income of NOK  3,050 million. 
   
 

1) Includes revenues from Germany of NOK 886 million in 2011 (NOK 821 million in 2010) 
2) Includes revenues from USA of NOK 1,025 million in 2011 (NOK 939 million in 2010)   
 

notes
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NOTE 5 CONTINGENT LIAbILITIES 

NOTE 4 FINANCIAL ITEMS     
 

              Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                                Group 
                         NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS
 
 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
     
 45.3  30.3  Interest income 1) 6.9  6.5 
 - 7.7  Foreign exchange gain 0.5  4.1 
 45.3  38.0  Total financial income 7.5  10.6 
    
 29.7  11.9  Interest expenses 1) 30.6  14.4 
 3.1  3.0  Other financial expenses 6.0  6.0 
 2.0  -  Foreign exchange loss -  - 
 34.8  14.9  Total financial expenses 36.6  20.4 
 

1) Interest income and expenses for the Parent Company include interest income and expenses from subsidiaries of NOK 42.3 million  
(2010: NOK 29.2 million) and NOK 1.0 million (2010: 0.0 million) respectively.   
 
borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.   

NOTE 3 EMPLOYEE bENEFITS ExPENSES   
 
     
               Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                                Group 
                         NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS 

 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
      
 113.8 113.8 Salary 835.9 720.1
 21.1 20.1 Social security tax 118.0 108.8
 12.5 11.4 Pension cost 33.7 26.8
 4.8 4.4 Other social expenses 27.6 23.7
 152.2 149.7 Total employee benefits expenses  1,015.2   879.4 
      
  132   125  Number of man-years 1 735  1 433 

NOTE 2 INvENTORY/COST OF GOODS SOLD     
 
     
                Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                               Group  
                        NGAAP                                                                                                                                 IFRS
 
 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
      
   COST OF GOODS SOLD   
   524.3   497.0  Cost of goods sold, gross  1,444.6  1,136.5 
  -     -   Change in inventory  24.8   17.8 
  524.3   497.0  Cost of goods sold, net 1,469.4  1,154.3 
      
Cost of goods sold includes adjustment of inventory write-down of NOK 0.0 million  
(2010: NOK 0.0 million) for the Parent Company and minus NOK 4.6 million (2010: minus NOK 3.5 million) for the Group.     
      
   INVENTORY   
  -     -   Raw materials 207.5   129.5 
  -     -   Work in progress 15.3   11.9 
 13.9  19.0  Finished goods 249.2   240.3 
  -     -   Spare parts 155.0   142.6 
  13.9   19.0  Total inventory 627.0   524.3 
      
  -    -   Inventory stated at fair value less costs to sell  -    -  
 

Inventories are not subject to retention of title clauses.   

eu commission     
In 2001, the EU Commission performed an investigation of Tomra’s  
competition law compliance. Based on this investigation, the 
Commission concluded in March 2006 that TOMRA in their opinion 
had foreclosed competition in the period 1998 to 2002 in the market 
for reverse vending machines in Austria, Germany, the Netherlands, 
Norway and Sweden by implementing an exclusionary strategy. TOMRA 
appealed the decision to the European General Court in 2006. In 
September 2010, the Court issued their judgment where they dismissed 
Tomra’s appeal both on the substance and on the amount of the fine. 
TOMRA consequently accrued EUR 28.2 million (NOK 226.1 million) for 
the fine and accumulated interest in the third quarter financial  
statement for 2010. The accrual is reported as short term interest  
bearing debt. TOMRA has appealed to the European Court of Justice.  
A verdict is expected in 2012.    
  
Sale of tomra pacific     
On 31 December 2011, Tomra sold the assets of Tomra Pacific, Inc., a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Tomra of North America, Inc, to rePlanet 

LLC. Tomra has given representations and warranties in line with what 
is considered normal in connection with such transactions. See also 
note 24 “Discontinued operations”.   
    
envipco law suit    
US competitor Envipco filed in November 2010 a complaint against 
TOMRA for alleged anti-trust violations. TOMRA’s estimated incremental 
expenses related to this claim were accrued as of 31 December 2010. 
The claim was settled in 2011 without any payments from Tomra to the 
plaintiff.      
 
Sale of tomra South America SA   
 Tomra Systems ASA has in connection to the sale of Tomra South 
America SA in 2005 given warranties in line with what is normal in such 
transactions. If the warranties are breached, Tomra Systems ASA has 
to indemnify buyer up to a USD 5 million limit. At the end of 2011 there 
were four pending cases regarding VAT that possibly could result in a 
payment for TOMRA. This is accrued for under provisions, see disclo-
sure note 12.
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NOTE 7 ShORT TERM RECEIvAbLES     
 
      
              Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                                              Group 
                         NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS 
 
 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
     
 8.4  0.8  Trade receivables, gross 744.4  774.2 
 356.2  769.2  Intra group short-term receivables  -     -   
 18.6  17.3  Other short-term receivables, gross 1) 289.2  248.1 
 - (82.8) Provision for bad debt (21.5) (36.5)
 383.2  704.5  Total receivables 1,012.1  985.8 
     
 82.8  69.6  Provision for bad debt per 1 January  36.5  26.6 
 6.2   13.6  Provisions made during the year  4.5  17.4 
  (89.0)  (0.4) Provisions used during the year  (19.5)  (7.5)
 0.0 82.8 Provision for bad debt per 31 December  21.5   36.5 
     

1) Other short-term receivables includes forward contracts of NOK 3.1 million.    
    
bad debt written-off is reported as other operating expenses.  Receivables with due dates more than one year after the balance date are reported as 
non-current assets.   
 
Trade receivables fall due:   2011 2010 
Amounts in NOK million     
Not due yet     508.5   503.3 
0 - 30 days    127.2   169.5 
31- 60 days    50.1   32.5 
61 - 90 days    19.1   15.2 
Older than 90 days    39.5   53.7 
Total trade receivables    744.4   774.2 

NOTE 6 INTEREST-bEARING LIAbILITIES   

               Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                                Group 
                         NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS 

 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
    
   NON-CuRRENT LIABILITIES  
  500.0   -    Unsecured bank loans 1)  500.0   -   
  -     219.6  EU-penalty 2)  -     219.6 
  -     6.5  Other non-current interest-bearing liabilities  14.7   14.3 
  500.0   226.1  Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities  514.7   233.9 
    
 0.0 0.0 Due more than 5 years after balance sheet day 0.0 0.0
    
   CuRRENT LIABILITIES  
  -     250.0  Current portion of unsecured bank loans 1)  -     250.0 
  225.1   -    EU-penalty 2)  225.1   -   
  -     -    Other current interest-bearing liabilities  0.7   -   
 225.1 250.0 Total current interest-bearing liabilities 225.8 250.0

    
1) In January 2011 Tomra Systems ASA replaced a NOK 250 million facility with a revolving bilateral five-year credit facility of NOK 500 million. In 
July 2011 Tomra Systems ASA’s other credit facility of NOK 500 million was replaced with a three-year term loan facility. As of 31 December 2011, 
NOK 500 million was outstanding on these facilities. The loans have a floating rate of interest, and have been given with a negative pledge commit-
ment. The loan agreement is conditional upon an equity covenant of at least 30 percent of total assets, as measured at the end of each quarter.    
 
2) 100 percent of the penalty from the EU-commission was accrued as of 31 December 2011. The penalty is interest-bearing at 3.82 percent per 
year, until eventually paid. See note 5.

NOTE 8 LONG TERM RECEIvAbLES   
 
     
               Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                                Group 
                         NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS 

 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
      
  -     -    Deposits  4.4   13.0 
  -     -    Capital lease  164.9   124.7 
 4.8  3.0  Loans to employees  4.8   3.0 
 3.7   0.1  Other long term receivables  52.0   24.0 
 8.5  3.1  Total receivables  226.1   164.7 
     

Capital lease relates to machines (mainly RvMs in USA and Germany) sold to customers on capital lease contracts.   
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GROuP - IFRS                                                                       Land &            Machinery &                                         Leasing 
Amounts in NOK million                                                        Buildings3)           Fixtures                  Vehicles              Equipment              Total
      
Cost     
balance at 1 January 2010 178.2  638.0  89.5  452.0  1,357.7 
Acquisitions through business combinations 0.0  2.4  0.0  0.0  2.4 
Other acquisitions  9.9  57.2  11.7  117.2  196.0 
Disposals (5.9) (42.9) (5.7) (56.4) (110.9)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 1) 1.4  7.7  0.3  4.6  14.0 
Balance at 31 December 2010 183.6  662.4  95.8  517.4  1,459.2 

balance at 1 January 2011 183.6  662.4  95.8  517.4  1,459.2 
Acquisitions  through business combinations 3.1  3.0  3.0  6.2  15.3 
Other acquisitions 3.5  74.2  9.9  81.2  168.8 
Disposals (20.6) (231.6) (21.3) (47.9) (321.4)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 2) 1.0  0.6  0.4  17.4  19.4 
Balance at 31 December 2011 170.6  508.6  87.8  574.3  1,341.3 

Depreciation and impairment losses
balance at 1 January 2010 41.2  395.9  58.4  340.2  835.7 
Depreciation charge for the year 8.8  68.8  12.1  57.0  146.7 
Writedown  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0 
Disposals (3.3) (39.7) (4.5) (47.6) (95.1)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 1) 0.2  (0.4) 0.1  4.5  4.4 
Balance at 31 December 2010 46.9  424.6  66.1  354.1  891.7 

balance at 1 January 2011 46.9  424.6  66.1  354.1  891.7 
Depreciation charge for the year 7.9  75.1  13.1  57.4  153.5 
Writedown 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0 
Disposals (5.5) (181.9) (19.1) (37.7) (244.2)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 2) 0.5  2.2  0.6  9.9  13.2 
Balance at 31 December 2011 49.8  320.0  60.7  383.7  814.2 

Depreciation rate 4) 2-4% 10-33% 15-33% 10-20% 
Useful life 50 yrs 10 yrs 7 yrs 5-10 yrs 
 
Carrying amounts
31 December 2010 136.7  237.8  29.7  163.3 567.5 
31 December 2011 120.8  188.6  27.1  190.6  527.1 

Finance lease carrying amounts (as included in total carrying amounts) 
31 December 2010 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0 
31 December 2011 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0 
     
 
1) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2010 are used in calculating tangible assets of foreign subsidiaries. 
2) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2011 are used in calculating tangible assets of foreign subsidiaries. 
3) Including land of NOK 15.1 million as of 31 December 2011.    
4) All depreciation plans are linear.    
     
Minimum lease payments under operational lease  2011 2010  
Not later than one year  73.4  55.2 
between one and five years   175.9  123.4 
More than five years  89.3  111.7 
     
Leasing equipment     
The companies within the TOMRA group had 6,732 reverse vending machines and 190 sorters leased to customers at the end of 2011.   
The table below shows the minimum leasing income from today’s lease portfolio. In addition to this income, TOMRA will receive income  
from material handling, service contracts etc.       
 
Minimum lease income from leasing equipment  2011 2010  
Not later than one year  50.9  40.6 
between one and five years  91.8  77.3 
More than five years  0.0  0.0    
  
     
 TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP                                                                          Machinery &                 
Amounts in NOK million                   Fixtures                   Vehicles Total

Cost     
balance at 1 January 2010  122.4  2.0  124.4 
Acquisitions  5.9  0.0  5.9 
Disposals  0.0  0.0  0.0 
Balance at 31 December 2010  128.3  2.0  130.3 
    
balance at 1 January 2011  128.3  2.0  130.3
Acquisitions  6.3  0.3  6.6 
Disposals  (93.9) (1.2) (95.1)
Balance at 31 December 2011  40.7  1.1  41.8 
    
Depreciation and impairment losses    
balance at 1 January 2010  110.4  1.2  111.6 
Depreciation charge for the year   5.1  0.4  5.5 
Disposals  0.0  0.0  0.0 
Balance at 31 December 2010  115.5  1.6 117.1 
    
balance at 1 January 2011  115.5  1.6 117.1 
Depreciation charge for the year   4.7  0.4  5.1 
Disposals  (93.9) (1.2) (95.1)
Balance at 31 December 2011  26.3  0.8 27.1 
    
Depreciation rate 1)  10-33% 15-33% 
Useful life  10 yrs 7 yrs 
    
Carrying amounts    
31 December 2010  12.9  0.5  13.2 
31 December 2011  14.4  0.3  14.7 
    
1) All depreciation plans are linear.    
    
Minimum lease payments under operational lease of offices  2011 2010 
Not later than one year  7.9  8.5 
between one and five years   33.9  36.6 
More than five years  18.5  30.4 

NOTE 9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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NOTE 10 INTANGIbLE ASSETS 
     
                                   
GROuP - IFRS               Development                
Amounts in NOK million                                                         Goodwill                 costs                    Patents                  Other                 Total

Cost      
balance at 1 January 2010 875.3  210.1  37.6  42.2  1,165.2 
Acquisitions through business combinations 65.3  0.0  0.6  0.0  65.9 
Other acquisitions -internally developed 0.4  20.0  0.1  13.2  33.7 
Disposals (7.9) (3.8) 0.0  0.0  (11.7)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 3) 16.0  0.3  2.7  1.5  20.5 
Balance at 31 December 2010 949.1  226.6  41.0  56.9  1,273.6 
      
balance at 1 January 2011 949.1  226.6  41.0  56.9  1,273.6 
Acquisitions through business combinations 342.0  0.0  44.4  32.5  418.9 
Other acquisitions -internally developed (31.9) 23.5  5.6  50.1  47.3 
Disposals 0.0  0.0  0.0  (4.7) (4.7)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 4) (7.4) 0.0 (0.4) (1.4) (9.2)
Balance at 31 December 2011 1,251.8  250.1  90.6  133.4  1,725.9 
      
Depreciation and impairment losses      
balance at 1 January 2010 183.2  161.9  11.6  29.3  386.0 
Depreciation charge for the year  0.0  17.6  4.6  4.0  26.2 
Impairment losses 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0 
Disposals (7.9) (3.8) 0.0  0.0  (11.7)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 3) (3.3) 0.3  0.5  0.3  (2.2)
Balance at 31 December 2010 172.0  176.0  16.7  33.6  398.3 
      
balance at 1 January 2011 172.0  176.0  16.7  33.6  398.3 
Depreciation charge for the year  0.0  20.5  9.5  11.0  41.0 
Impairment losses 1) 1.8  1.1  0.0  0.5  3.4 
Disposals 0.0  0.0  0.0  (4.7) (4.7)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 4) (9.8) 0.0 1.5  2.2  (6.1)
Balance at 31 December 2011 164.0  197.6  27.7  42.6  431.9 
      
Depreciation rate 2) 0 % 14-33% 10 % 5-33% 
Useful life Indefinite 3-7 yrs 10 yrs 3-20 yrs 
      
Carrying amounts      
31 December 2010 777.1  50.6  24.3  23.3  875.3 
31 December 2011 1,087.8  52.5  62.9  90.8  1,294.0 
      
1) Impairment losses are specified as a separate line item in the profit and loss. Impairment losses consist of software that is   
no longer in use and no longer provide inflow to the Group. For impairment loss on Goodwill see below.     
2) All depreciation plans are linear.      
3) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2010 are used in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.     
4) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2011 are used in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.     
 
Other intangible assets mainly consist of capitalized customer relations from aquisitions of businesses and investments in software.   
   
Specification of goodwill impairment losses      2011 2010
Orwak Norge AS     1.8   -   
Total impairment losses recognized     1.8  0.0  
 
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill 
The following units have significant carrying amounts of goodwill:
      
Amounts in NOK million    2011 2010
MATERIAL hANDLING      
US East    77.6  85.1 
COLLECTION TEChNOLOGY       
 - Nordic    16.6  16.7 
 - Central Europe    64.0  64.2 
 - US East    71.9  95.4 
INDUSTRIAL PROCESSING TEChNOLOGY      
 - Titech / Commodas    286.5  280.8 
 - Odenberg    340.4  -
 - Ultrasort (part of TiTech Group)    163.1  163.1 
 - Orwak    67.7  71.8 
Total    1,087.8  777.1   
    
The recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is based on value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on actual operating 
results and the five-year business plan including a residual value. A pre-tax discount rate of 13.1 percent was used in 2011 and 12.9 percent was used in 2010. A 
growth rate of 2.5 percent yearly has been used on the terminal year in the predicted cash flows. Ultrasort has a higher predicted cash flow in the terminal year than 
previous years to reflect the long term perspective of this purchase, where the cash flows are expected to materialize over a longer time period once the technology  
for sensor based ore-sorting gets a breakthrough.      
      
Exchange rates as of 31 December 2011 were used in calculating carrying values (see note 19). In calculating the predicted cash flows,  
the following exchange rates were used EUR/NOK: 7.80 - USD/NOK: 5.60 - SEK/NOK: 0.85 - AUD/NOK 5.50.    
 
An interest rate increase of 2 percent points would not trigger a writedown of goodwill. 
A reduction in forecasted cashflows of 10 percent would not trigger a writedown of goodwill.     
      
Research and development expenditure      
Research and development expenditure of NOK 190.4 million has been recognized as an expense  
(2010: NOK 172.8 million) and NOK 23.5 million has been capitalized (2010: NOK 20.0 million).    
 

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP  Other    
Amounts in NOK million      

Cost      
balance at 1 January 2010  0.0 
Other acquisitions -internally developed  8.5 
Balance at 31 December 2010  8.5 
  
balance at 1 January 2011  8.5 
Other acquisitions -internally developed  10.0 
Balance at 31 December 2011  18.5 
  
Depreciation and impairment losses  
balance at 1 January 2010  0.0 
Depreciation charge for the year   0.0 
Balance at 31 December 2010  0.0 
  
balance at 1 January 2011  0.0 
Depreciation charge for the year   2.7 
Balance at 31 December 2011  2.7 
  
Depreciation rate   20 %
Useful life  5 yrs
  
Carrying amounts  
31 December 2010  8.5 
31 December 2011  15.8 
      
Other consists of investment in a new ERP system that was implemented in 2011.    
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NOTE 12 OThER CURRENT LIAbILITIES   

             Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                              Group  
                     NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS 

 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
    
  19.5   17.7  Tax deductions, social security tax, holiday pay  220.4   200.7 
  -    0.7  Advances from customers  48.4   52.6 
  155.3   88.8  Dividend accruals  -     -  
  69.5   70.0  Non interest-bearing debt 1)  232.9   143.6 
 244.3  177.2  Total other current liabilities 501.7   396.9 
    
1) Non interest-bearing debt includes forward contracts of NOK 1.9 million.    
     

NOTE 11 TAxES      
      
             Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                              Group  
                     NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS 
  
 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK miliion 2011  2010 
        
   TAX BASIS    
 225.4  (26.7) Profit before taxes     
 (0.8) 270.2  Permanent differences     
 (3.2) (17.2) Change in temporary differences     
 221.4  226.3  Basis for taxes payable    
 
   TAXES     
 62.0  63.4  Taxes payable 150.2    134.9  
 0.9  4.8  Net change in deferred taxes 13.4    (2.9) 
 62.9  68.2  Tax expense 163.6    132.0  

   Effective tax rate      
   Taxes based upon actual tax rates 182.3   30.2 % 64.0  29.3 %
   Tax effect from permanent differences (18.7) -3.1 % 68.0  31.1 %
   Actual tax expense 163.6  27.1 % 132.0  60.4 %
       
The actual tax rate for 2010 is higher than other years due to the EU-penalty which is not tax deductible.     
  
Deferred tax represents the net change in deferred tax assets and liabilities through changes in timing differences and loss carried forward.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented net of their respective tax effect using tax rate of the applicable jurisdiction applied to amounts 
which represent future tax deductions or taxes payable and consist of the following as of 31 December.     
  
             Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                              Group  
                     NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS  
 
 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010 
       
   DEFERRED TAX ASSETS   
 2.4  1.6  Inventory 68.7  64.3 
 (0.3) 0.3  Other current assets 2.5  10.4 
 16.3  18.3  Intangible non-current assets 3.1  (21.4)
 2.0  2.5  Tangible non-current assets 2.0  (14.5)
 (14.2) (16.2) Financial non-current assets (14.1) (9.8)
 5.1  6.0  Provisions 7.7  10.1 
 15.5  16.0  Other current liabilities 17.5  47.0 
 8.5  7.7  Pension reserves 8.8  7.7 
  -   -  Loss carried forward 0.7  5.3 
  35.3   36.2  Total deferred tax assets  96.9   99.1 
 
   DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES    
   Inventory (1.6)  0.3 
   Other current assets (6.7) 2.0 
   Intangible non-current assets 65.2  20.5 
   Tangible non-current assets 32.4  3.4 
   Financial non-current assets (8.7)  - 
   Provisions 1.6  1.9 
   Current liabilities (30.2)  1.0 
   Pension reserves -  (0.1)
   Loss carried forward (11.6) -
   Total deferred tax liabilities  40.4   29.2 
       
Negative and positive timing differences, which reverse or may reverse in the same period, are offset. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of 
timing differences and losses carried forward which are offset. Timing differences between different subsidiaries have not been offset. During the 
period that these differences reverse, the companies will have a taxable net income that is sufficient to realize the deferred tax allowance. The losses 
carried forward are all in countries where future taxable profits are expected.     
 
There have not been any material effects in either deferred tax or tax expenses for the year, related to changes in tax rates in the jurisdictions where 
TOMRA operates.

NOTE 13 PROvISIONS   
   
TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP   
   
Amounts in NOK million Warranty Other Total
balance at 1 January 2011 15.7  5.8  21.5 
Provisions made during the year  4.3  0.0  4.3 
Provisions used during the year  (3.0) (0.2) (3.2)
Provisions reversed during the year (4.3) 0.0  (4.3)
Balance at 31 December 2011 12.7  5.6  18.3 
   
GROuP - IFRS   
   
Amounts in NOK million Warranty Other Total
balance at 1 January 2011 98.4  31.2  129.6 
Provisions made during the year  98.0  1.2  99.2 
Provisions used during the year  (64.6) (0.1) (64.7)
Provisions reversed during the year (11.8) (21.0) (32.8)
Balance at 31 December 2011 120.0  11.3  131.3 
   
Warranty provisions relate to accruals for service-expenses assumed to occur during the period sold machines are covered by warranties given
to the customer.

Other provisions comprise of provisions for contractual obligations with  business partners, and provisions for known claims covered by TOMRA in  
connection with the sale of its brazilian operations in 2005 and Presona Ab in 2010. Other provisions also comprise of an obligation for a lease agreement 
of an office building in Germany, which is only partially used by the TOMRA Group.
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NOTE 14 RELATED PARTIES     
  
GROuP - IFRS.

Amounts in NOK, unless stated otherwise       

Identification of related parties       
The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries and associates (see disclosure note 15 and 16) and with its directors and executive  
officers. All transactions with related parties are based on arms length principles.      
 
The tables in this note show all benefits that were received by board members and Group Management for the stated years. 
       
2011 Share- Board Committee  Variable Other
Board members holding1) fees4) fees5) Salary6) salary7) benefits9)

Svein Rennemo (Chairman and  
Compensation Comittee)    810,000   67,500    
bjørn M. Wiggen (Deputy chairman and  
Audit Comittee until May 2011)  n/a  385,000   45,000    
Per A. Sørlie (Deputy chairman and  
Audit Comittee from May 2011)   192,500   22,500    
hege Marie Norheim (board member,  
Audit and CR Comittee) 14,350  577,500   112,500    
Aniela Gabriela Gjøs (board member,  
Compensation and Audit Comittee) 10,000  577,500   90,000    
bernd h.J. bothe (board member and  
CR Comittee)   577,500   45,000    
Ingrid Solberg (Employee representative) 4,189  337,500    772,948   120,000   30,310 
David Williamson (Employee representative  
and CR Comittee) 648  337,500    380,449   30,219   6,126 
Tom Knoff (Nomination Comittee)    90,000    
Ole Dahl (Nomination Comittee) 11) 3,000   60,000    
hild Kinder (Nomination Comittee)    60,000    
       
2011 Share-   Variable Pension Other 
Group Management holding1) Loan3) Salary6) Salary7) premiums8) benefits9) 
Stefan Ranstrand (President/CEO) 2) 76,391  4,070,922 1,950,000 527,417 805,918
Michael Liess (President,  
Tomra US East until February 2011)    USD 64,096 USD 33,846  USD 433,125
Espen Gundersen (SEvP/CFO)  37,488 1,400,000 2,142,777 1,024,650 451,414 515,226
harald henriksen (SvP, head of North America  
Collection Solutions from August 2011)  30,672 1,400,000 1,904,874 838,350 358,285 386,848
Fredrik Nordh (SvP,  
head of Nordic Collection Solutions) 12,112  SEK 1,344,072 SEK 662,500 SEK 391,338 SEK 75,506
heiner bevers (SvP, head of Central and  
Eastern Europe Collection Solutions 24,316  EUR 272,091 EUR 131,445 EUR 5,442 EUR 11,817
Rune Marthinussen (SvP,  
head of business Area Sorting Solutions) 26,489 1,400,000 1,798,653 860,085 477,755 387,462
Ton Klumper (SvP, head of Western and  
Southern Europe Collection Solutions) 31,200 EUR 31,649 EUR 203,297 0 EUR 127,572 EUR 31,068
håkon volldal (SvP, head of business  
Area Collection Solutions from August 2011) 9,604  1,646,860 787,500 203,593 509,806
Stefan Ek (SvP, head of Orwak Collection Solutions) 9,903  SEK 1,222,076 SEK 507,828 SEK 347,875 SEK 113,098
       
2010 Share- Board Committee  Variable Other 
Board members holding1) fees4) fees5) Salary6) Salary7) benefits9) 
Svein Rennemo (Chairman and  
Compensation Comittee)    500,000   45,000    
bjørn M. Wiggen (Deputy chairman and  
Audit Comittee) 10) 10,000  385,000   45,000    
hege Marie Norheim  
(board member, Audit and CR Comittee) 14,350  385,000   60,000    
Aniela Gabriela Gjøs (board member,  
Compensation and Audit Comittee) 10,000  385,000   60,000    
bernd h.J. bothe (board member and  
CR Comittee from April 2010)      
Ingrid Solberg (Employee representative) 2,755  225,000    747,599   110,000   23,642 
David Williamson (Employee representative  
and CR Comittee) 648  225,000    363,138   29,338   8,589 
Tom Knoff (Nomination Comittee)    45,000    
Ole Dahl (Nomination Comittee)  3,500    30,000    
hild Kinder (Nomination Comittee)    30,000    
Jørgen Randers (board member, Compensation  
and CR Comittee until April 2010) n/a  385,000   75,000    
       
2010 Share-   Variable Pension Other 
Group Management holding1) Loan3) Salary6) Salary7) premiums8) benefits9) 
Stefan Ranstrand (President/CEO) 2) 50,000  3,710,743 680,427 518,784 728,084
Michael Liess (President, Tomra US East)    USD 333,300 USD 166,650  USD 57,516
Espen Gundersen (SEvP/CFO)  35,000  2,069,746 990,000 412,730 460,152
harald henriksen (SvP Technology)  29,600 1,400,000 1,693,821 810,000 331,812 429,209
Fredrik Nordh (vP, Tomra Nordic) 5,000  SEK 1,325,000 SEK 245,438 SEK 581,977 SEK 51,018
heiner bevers (MD, Tomra Systems Gmbh) 11,089  EUR 262,890 EUR 127,000 EUR 5,258 EUR 7,131
Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiTech) 16,000  1,737,538 831,000 249,030 251,274
Ton Klumper (vP, Tomra Western and  
Eastern Europe) 31,200 EUR 31,649 EUR 196,650 EUR 95,000 EUR 102,755 EUR 29,187
håkon volldal (SvP business Development)   1,000,000 1,515,852 750,000 184,298 639,585
Stefan Ek (MD, Orwak Group) 3,397  SEK 1,212,000 SEK 198,000 SEK 362,360 SEK 386,537
Amund Skarholt (President/CEO  
until August 2009)   n/a   208,901  141,750 1,460,000
 
       
Loans to employees as of 31 December amounted to NOK 4.8 million (2010: NOK 3.0 million) for the parent company and NOK 5.3 million  
(2010: NOK 3.3 million) for the Group.      
      
1) Shareholding       
The column shows number of shares owned by the board members, officers and companies controlled by them and their families.   
       
2) Remuneration CEO       
Stefan Ranstrand could in 2011 earn a variable salary up to 50 percent of his fixed salary, based upon the Group’s performance. he also participated in 
the Long Term Incentive Plan (see below). The CEO is entitled to 12 months salary as severance pay, in the case of dismissal.   
       
3) Loans to management       
Loans in NOK as of 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010. The loans are secured by mortgages in real estate or motor vehicles and are interest 
and installment free.       
       
4) Board fees       
In previous years, the board received their remuneration in arrears. From 2011, the board receives 50 percent of the estimated fees after six months, 
and the remaining after an additional six months. The 2011 column consequently comprises 1.5 years of fees due to the change of remuneration  
principle.        
 
5) Committee fees       
The column contains fees related to participation in the Audit, Compensation, CR and Nomination Comittees.    
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6) Salary       
The column comprises ordinary salary received in the year.      
 
7) Variable salary       
The column contains bonus payments received at the start of the year, based upon the previous years performance. The amounts do not include  
payments from the LTIP-program, described below.       
       
8) Pension premiums       
The Group Management members participated in the same pension plans as other employees in the jurisdiction they were employed. The CEO was not 
included in the defined benefit plan and received a fixed compensation instead. For further description of the pension plan, see disclosure note 17.  
       
9) Other benefits       
The column comprises the value of other benefits received by Group Management and board members during the year, including value of interest-free 
loans, car allowance, health insurance etc. Severance payments are also included here.     
       
10) Shareholding Board member       
In September 2010 board member bjørn M. Wiggen was appointed President and CEO of Orkla, which held 23,000,000 shares in TOMRA at  
31 December 2010.       
       
11) Shareholding Board member       
TOMRA’s previous shareholder Orkla ASA was represented in the Nomination Committee by Ole Dahl, and his board compensation has been credited 
Orkla ASA.        
 
Extract from principles for remuneration of Group Management  
Salary should include both a fixed and a variable part. The variable salary may amount to a maximum of 50 percent of the fixed salary. Fringe benefits 
should be moderate and only account for a limited part of the remuneration package. There should be no special pension plans for Group Management  
members. In 2006 the option program in TOMRA was replaced by a long term incentive plan for Group Management members (see below). The entire 
principles for remuneration of Group Management are found under the Corporate Governance section of the annual report.   
       
Long Term Incentive Plans (LTIP)       
In 2006 TOMRA established a long-term, cash-based incentive plan, where managers receive bonuses based upon annual growth in the Group’s and 
local unit’s profit and performance. The bonus for each year was placed in an interest-bearing account in a virtual bonus bank, from which individual 
holdings were paid over a period of three years. This plan expired in 2010, and the remaining balances were paid out in 2011.    
       
In April 2010, a new plan for Group Management members was established, where a bonus is earned only if the Tomra share outperforms the Nasdaq 
index. The bonus is dependant upon the size of the over-performance, but is capped at one years base salary. The Tomra share outperformed Nasdaq by  
36 percent in the period April 2010 to December 2011, and Management consequently earned full bonus under this plan in 2011. As long as the  
shareholding of each manager is below 75 percent of base salary, 25 percent (~50 percent after tax) of the earnings under this plan has to be invested 
in Tomra shares, which must be kept for at least three years.      
 
 

 OLD PLAN
 Balance Paid out Earned Balance 
 31.12.2010 2011 2011 31.12.2011
Stefan Ranstrand (President/CEO) 83,930 83,930  
Espen Gundersen (SEvP/CFO)  775,840 775,840  
harald henriksen (President, Tomra US East from August 2011)  775,840 775,840  
Fredrik Nordh (vP, Tomra Nordic) 0 0  
heiner bevers (MD, Tomra Systems Gmbh) EUR 94,068 EUR 94,068  
Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiTech) 775,840 775,840  
Ton Klumper (vP, Tomra Western and Eastern Europe) EUR 94,068 EUR 94,068  
håkon volldal (SvP Technology from August 2011) 488,636 488,636  
Michael Liess (President, Tomra US East until February 2011) 1) USD 8,713 USD 8,713  
Stefan Ek (MD, Orwak Group) 0 0 

  
 NEW PLAN
 Earned Invested in Earned  
 2010  shares 2011 2011*
Stefan Ranstrand (President/CEO)   3,900,000 975,000 4,036,500
Espen Gundersen (SEvP/CFO)    2,049,300 512,325 2,121,026
harald henriksen (SvP, head of North America Collection Solutions)   1,676,700 419,175 1,882,462
Fredrik Nordh (SvP, head of Nordic Collection Solutions)  SEK 1,325,000 SEK 331,250 SEK 1,371,375
heiner bevers (SvP, head of Central and Eastern Europe Collection Solutions EUR 262,890 EUR 65,723 EUR 272,091
Rune Marthinussen (SvP, head of business Area Sorting Solutions)  1,720,170 430,043 1,780,376
Ton Klumper (SvP, head of Western and Southern Europe Collection Solutions) EUR 196,650 EUR 49,163 EUR 203,533
håkon volldal (SvP, head of business Area Collection Solutions  
from August 2011)   1,575,000 393,750 1,630,125
Michael Liess (President, Tomra US East until February 2011) 1)  USD 333,300 - -
Stefan Ek (SvP, head of Orwak Collection Solutions)   SEK 1,212,000 SEK 303,000 SEK 1,254,420

* 25 percent (~50 percent after tax) is to be invested in shares in 2012, provided the shareholding < 75 percent of the base salary.  
1) The 2010 earning was fully paid out, but no shares were invested as the employment was terminated.

  
The collective compensation for key management personnel was as follows (21 managers in 2011 and 21 in 2010):   
 
Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010    
Short-term employee benefits 57.4 41.6
Severance payments 2.4 1.8
Post-employment benefits 3.8 3.4
Total 63.6 46.8
     
Total remuneration is included in “employee benefit expenses” (see disclosure note 3). 
    
Transactions with subsidiaries    
Transactions between the Group companies, which are related parties, have been eliminated in the consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.  
      
Auditors’ fees      
                                                                                                     2011                                            2010   
Amounts in NOK million                                    Parent                     Group                      Parent                    Group  
Statutory audit 1.1 5.9 1.1 6.2
Other attestation services - 0.7 - 0.9
Tax consulting 0.0 4.7 - 1.9
Other services 0.2 0.8 - 2.0
Total 1.3 12.1 1.1 11.0
    
Statutory audit fees to KPMG for the Group were NOK 4.7 million (NOK 4.6 million in 2010), and fees to other auditors were NOK 1.2 million  
(NOK 1.5 million in 2010).

Non-audit fees to KPMG for the Group were NOK 4.0 million (NOK 2.2 million in 2010), and non-audit fees to other auditors were NOK 2.2 million  
(NOK 2.6 million in 2010).      

NOTE 14 RELATED PARTIES (cont.)
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TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP     
     
Tomra Systems ASA’s transactions with related parties     
     
Tomra Systems ASA has several transactions with related parties. All transactions are performed as part of the ordinary business,  
and executed at arms length principles. 
     
     
The significant transactions are as follows:     
     
Sales of RvM’s, spare parts and service manuals/support of NOK 938.2 million in 2011 (NOK 890.2 million in 2010) to:   
     
Tomra butikksystemer AS     
Tomra Systems Ab     
Tomra Systems AS     
OY Tomra Ab     
Tomra Systems Gmbh     
Tomra Systems bv     
Tomra Systems Nv     
Tomra Leergutsysteme Gmbh     
Tomra Systems SA     
Tomra of North America Inc.     
Tomra baltic OÜ     
Tomra Systems Ltd.     
Tomra Japan Ltd.     
     
Purchase of RvM’s and spare parts from Tomra Production AS of NOK 347,1 million in 2011 (NOK 300.9 million in 2010).   
     
Management fee of NOK 8.8 million in 2011 (NOK 8.0 million in 2010)     
     
Interest income on loans of NOK 42.3 million in 2011 (NOK 29.2 million in 2010), and interest expenses on loans of NOK 1.0 million in 2011  
(NOK 0.0 million in 2010).     
     

The Balance sheet includes the following amounts from transactions with related parties:      
     
Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010   
Loans to subsidiaries  1,150.7   376.8    
Intra-group receivables  356.2   686.4    
Loan from subsidiaries  (46.5)  -      
Intra-group debt  (414.9)  (258.1)   
Total  1,045.5   805.1    

NOTE 14 RELATED PARTIES (cont.)

NOTE 15 ShARES AND INvESTMENTS    

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP
                       Year of Vote and                
Amounts in NOK million Country         acquisition             owner share             Book value
Tomra North America Inc USA 1992 100.0 % 1,166.2 
Tomra Systems Inc Canada 1988 100.0 %  42.5 
Tomra Europe AS Norway 1998 100.0 %  10.0 
Tomra Production AS Norway 1998 100.0 %  15.0 
Tomra Canada Inc Canada 2000 100.0 %  37.3 
Titech Japan KK 2) Japan 2000 100.0 % 7.0 
Tomra Japan Ltd. 1) Japan 2008 50.0 % 9.6 
Orwak Group Ab Sweden 2005 100.0 %  132.4 
Tomra Sorting Solutions AS Norway 2004 100.0 %  208.2 
Tomra Systems Ltd. United Kingdom 2006 100.0 %  2.3 
Tomra China China 2010 100.0 %  16.7 
Total shares in subsidiaries    1,647.2 

1) Tomra Systems ASA owns 50 percent of Tomra Japan Ltd. The 
company is a joint venture and is proportionately consolidated in 
the Group. TOMRA’s share of the joint venture accounts for less 
than 1 percent of the total capital of the Group. 
 
2) In 2011 Tomra Systems ASA converted a receivable to equity for 
Titech Japan KK. This resulted in Titech Japan KK having positive 

equity and therefore NOK 7.0 million of the previous write down of 
NOK 28.5 million has been reversed. 
 
Long term loan to the subsidiary Tomra North America Inc of NOK 
374 million/USD 54 million is treated as part of net investments in 
the parent company. In the parent company it is booked at cost and 
reported under loans to subsidiaries. 

NOTE 16 INvESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES    
    
GROuP - IFRS     
                                                                                                                                                ultre-           Tomra Tomra 
Amounts in NOK million PET s.r.o. Baltic Total
book value 31 December 2010  29.5   -  1.7 31.2 
Profit 2011  4.9  2.6  (0.1) 7.4 
Dividends and equity infusions  -  (2.6)  -  (2.6)
Currency translation difference 1.1   -   - 1.1 
Book value 31 December 2011 35.5  0.0  1.6  37.1 
    
Equity at date of acquisition  41.0  0.0  0.0
Country USA Czech Republic Estonia
Year of acquisition 1999 1998 2005
vote and share ownership 49 % 40 % 40 %
    
Summary financial information for associates on 100% basis:    
    
2011    Total
Assets  112.0   10.6   7.1  129.7
Liabilities  45.4   0.9   3.0  49.3
Equity  66.6   9.7   4.1  80.4
Revenues  218.8   26.1   3.0  247.9
Profit/(loss) 4.9   8.5  (0.2) 13.2
    
2010    Total
Assets  78.1   9.9   7.7  95.7
Liabilities  27.6   2.1   3.4  33.1
Equity  50.5   7.8   4.3  62.6
Revenues  178.1   12.9   9.6  200.6
Profit/(loss) 0.0   6.2  0.0  6.2
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Plan assets comprise of        
       
   2011 2010   
Shares   15.2 % 16.2 %
Short-term bonds   12.6 % 17.2 %
Credit   16.6 % 13.1 %
Long-term bonds   34.1 % 25.2 %
Property   17.3 % 16.1 %
Other   4.2 % 12.2 %
Total   100.0 % 100.0 %

NOTE 17 PENSION AND PENSION OBLIGATIONS    
 
               Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                                Group   
                          NGAAP                                                                                                                                   IFRS 
 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
   
   EXPENSE RECOGNIZED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT   
  11.7  10.4  Current service cost  11.7  10.4 
  5.0  5.5  Interest cost of pension obligations  5.0  5.5 
  (4.0) (4.9) Expected return on plan assets (4.0) (4.9)
  0.1  (0.0) Actuarial gains and losses  0.1  (0.0)
  1.8  1.5  Social security tax included in pension cost  1.8  1.5 
  14.6  12.5  Net pension costs  14.6  12.5 
 
   FINANCIAL STATuS AS OF 31 DECEMBER
 172.4  146.1  Present value of funded pension obligations  172.4  146.1 
 (107.5) (101.3) Fair value of plan assets (107.5) (101.3)
 (34.4) (17.2) Unrecognized actuarial gains & losses (34.4) (17.2)
  30.5  27.6  Pension liability    30.5  27.6 
 
   BASIS FOR CALCuLATION
 3.30 % 3.60 % Discount rate 3.30 % 3.60 %
 4.00 % 4.00 % Expected wage increase 4.00 % 4.00 %
 3.75 % 3.75 % Expected increase of base amount 3.75 % 3.75 %
 4.80 % 4.60 % Expected return on plan assets 31 December 4.80 % 4.60 %
 
   MOVEMENTS IN THE NET LIABILITY FOR DEFINED BENEFIT  
   OBLIGATIONS AS RECOGNIZED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
 27.6   23.3  Net liability at 1 January  27.6  23.3 
 (11.7) (8.2) Contributions received (11.7) (8.2)
 14.6   12.5  Expense recognized in the Income Statement (*)  14.6  12.5 
 30.5  27.6  Net liability at 31 December   30.5  27.6 
 
   (*) The expense is recognized in the following    
   line item in the income statement    
 
  14.6   12.5  Employee benefits expenses defined benefit plan  14.6  12.5 
  3.9   3.8  Employee benefits expenses defined contribution plan  19.1  14.3 
  18.5   16.3  Total employee benefits expenses 1) 33.7  26.8 
 

1) NOK 6.0 million of total employee benefits for Tomra Systems ASA was charged to subsidiaries in 2011 (2010: NOK 4.9 milllion). 
The cost of the defined benefit plan includes a premium for the right to a paid up defined contribution policy based on an actuarial valuation.   
 
TOMRA’s best estimate of contributions expected to be paid to the plan for 2012 is NOK 11.7 million.    
  
 The discount rate used for 2011 was the best estimate of the rate at the time the basis for the calculation was set in October 2011. 

GROuP - IFRS
Until the end of 2006 all employees in Norway were covered by a 
collective pension plan, where the insured pension plans covered 
employees in permanent positions of at least 50 percent of full time 
employment and below an age of 57 years at the employment date. 
The pension plan was structured as a retirement net agreement in that 
it guaranteed a supplement to the State benefits. There has not been 
any agreements for compensation of reductions in State benefits. The 
plan gives a right to defined future benefits (defined benefit plan). 
The benefit is mainly dependent upon years within the plan, salary at 
date of retirement and compensation from the State. The obligations 
are covered through Storebrand insurance company. The plan should 
ensure that the employees would get a pension of about 65 percent of 
salary, if they had full contribution time, limited upwards to 12G. 
   
In 2007, TOMRA established a defined contribution plan, where TOMRA 
contributes 5% of salary between 1 and 6G and 8% of salary between 
6 and 12G. The old defined benefit plan for salary up to 12G was at 
the same time closed for new members, so all new employees from 
January 2007 are members of the defined contribution plan instead. 
 
Employees that were members of the defined benefit plan, could 
choose if they wanted to stay in this plan or join the new defined con-
tribution plan. Employees that chose to change pension plan got a paid 
up policy for the benefit they had earned under the old plan. In total 65 
employees chose to change pension plan.   
 
In addition TOMRA had a separate pension plan for benefits over 12G, 
with the same coverage as the plan up to 12G. Until the end of 2006 
the pension premium for such plans was not taxable for the receiver, 
but it would be taxable when the pension was paid out. The pension 
premium was not tax deductible for the company.   
     

  
Due to changes in the tax regulations the pension premium paid is  
taxable from 1 January 2007 for the employee, while only the return 
of the pension is taxable when it is paid out. The pension premium is 
also tax deductible for the company. 
 
To eliminate the effect of the changes in tax regulation for employees, 
the pension plan was adjusted to keep the benefit after tax unchanged 
for the employee.  This was done by adjusting the pension premium 
down to a level where the employee would get the same benefit after 
tax as under the former pension plan. In addition TOMRA compen-
sates the employee’s tax on the pension premium.  
 
 The pension plans have been treated for accounting purposes in  
accordance with IAS 19. The parent company’s plan, which also  
covers employees in Tomra butikksystemer AS, Tomra Production AS, 
Tomra Sorting Solutions AS and Odenberg AS includes 122 employees 
and 30 retirees at year-end 2011.   
 
Actual return on plan assets was NOK 4.9 million in 2010. 
 
The life expectancy table K2005 has been used.   
 
The table above shows total pension cost for the parent company  
and the Group’s defined benefit plans, and total pension obligations  
at 31 December for the parent company and the Group’s defined  
benefit plans and defined contribution plans. Net pension obligations 
at 31 December 2011 are split between net pension obligations for the 
defined benefit plans of NOK 27.2 million, and net pension obligations 
for the defined contribution plans of NOK 3.3 million.  
     
  

Change in plan assets    
  
Amounts in noK million  2011 2010 
Fair value of assets at beginning of year 101.3   96.1 
Expected return on plan assets  4.0   4.9 
Actuarial (loss) gain    (6.5)  (5.4)
Employer contribution   10.2   7.1 
benefits paid    (1.5)  (1.4)
Fair value of assets at end of year 107.5   101.3 

Historical information       
       
Amounts in NOK million    2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Present value of the defined benefit obligation    172.4   146.1   128.5   166.3   127.6 
Fair value of plan assets     (107.5)  (101.3)  (96.1)  (105.1)  (106.0)
Deficit / (surplus) in the plan     64.9   44.8   32.4   61.2   21.6 
        
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities   10.0   1.8   (60.8)  5.1   (15.2)
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets   7.3   6.3   19.9   9.6   2.5 
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NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

NOTE 18 CASh AND CASh EQUIvALENTS    
 
             Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                                                            GROUP 
                         NGAAP                                                                                                                                IFRS 

 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
 74.9 34.9 Cash and cash equivalents 178.3 56.6
 74.9 34.9 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows1) 178.3 56.6
     

 1) Includes restricted bank deposits totaling NOK 5.6 million for the Parent company and   NOK 5.6 million for the Group.    
    
Tomra Systems ASA and its fully owned subsidiaries participate in an international multi-currency cash-pool,  operated by DNb. All the subsidiaries 
deposit to and withdraw from the pool through the cash-pool  agreement as an Intra-Group receivable/payable against Tomra Systems ASA, and the 
transactions  are classified as such in the financial statement.

Responsibility for funding, cash management and financial risk management is handled centrally by the finance department in Tomra Systems ASA. 
Guidelines for the finance activities are determined by the financial strategy, which is reviewed and approved by the Board. The central treasury 
department acts as the corporate bank and is responsible for all external borrowing and hedging transactions in interest rates and currencies. TOMRA 
aims to limit its exposure to financial risk.      
      
interest rate risk      
TOMRA’s cash surplus is primarily placed in NOK with short maturities. In accordance with the adopted financial strategy, the duration of the portfolio 
should not exceed six months.       
      
Non current interest-bearing liabilities relates to a NOK 500 million three-year term loan facility which was established in July 2011. In addition a 
revolving, bilateral credit facility of NOK 500 million was established in January 2011. Total charge for the term loan is NIBOR (Norwegian Interbank 
Offered Rate) plus 52 basis points in margin. On the revolving facility, interest is payable at a rate of NIBOR plus 60-90 basis points, dependent on 
TOMRA’s NIBD/EBITDA ratio. In addition TOMRA has an overdraft facility of NOK 50 million. A change in the interest rate of 100 basis points, cal-
culated on the loan amount as pr 31 December 2011, increases/decreases the annual financial costs by NOK 5.0 million. At year end cash and cash 
equivalents had a duration of zero (mainly bank holdings), and the duration of the NOK 500 million term loan was 2.5 years.    
       
Credit risk      
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding contracts should a counter party default on its obligations. Historically the Group has 
limited bad debt on receivables. The Group has sufficient routines for credit checks on clients and credit risk is not considered to be significant on 
outstanding receivables as of 31 December 2011. However, TOMRA’s customers include the largest retail chains in the world, as well as large scrap 
material processors, where outstanding receivables globally can be significant. In a situation where one of these systems collapses, TOMRA could be 
exposed. The maximum exposure to credit risk at year-end equaled total receivables in the balance sheet.      
     
In accordance with the Group’s financial strategy, placement of surplus cash requires the counterpart to have a strong rating, with investments  
limited to NOK 100 million per bank. Surplus liquidity can also be placed in certificates issued by states or municipalities, as well as in short term 
security markets which require a safe investment structure.      
      
TOMRA’s main bank is DNB Bank, where TOMRA’s NOK 500 million credit facility is located in addition to the international cash pool. The other loan 
facility of NOK 500 million is a term loan at Exportfinans ASA, with DNB as a guarantor. TOMRA also has a few local banks for a full cash manage-
ment solution. The tables below show TOMRA’s outstanding loan per 31 December and respective counterpart’s credit rating.    
  
     
 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 
 Credit limit Loan balance Rating Credit limit Loan balance Rating
   Moody/S&P   Moody/S&P
DNb bank ASA NOK 500 million - Aa3 / A+ NOK 750 million NOK 250 million Aa3 / A+
Eksportfinans ASA NOK 500 million NOK 500 million ba1 / bbb+ - - n/a

SenSitiVitY AnALYSiS       
       
The sensitivity analysis below shows how changes in the basis for calculation will affect the numbers.     
        
Basis for calculation        
Discount rate 3.30 % 3.80 % 2.80 % 3.30 % 3.30 % 3.30 % 3.30 %
Expected wage increase 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.50 % 3.50 %
Expected increase of base amount 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 %
Expected pension regulation 0.70 % 0.70 % 0.70 % 0.95 % 0.45 % 0.70 % 0.70 %
Interest 2.58 % 3.08 % 2.09 % 2.33 % 2.84 % 2.58 % 2.58 %
Expected return on plan assets 4.80 % 4.80 % 4.80 % 4.80 % 4.80 % 4.80 % 4.80 %
       
Results        
Amounts in NOK million        
Service costs 13.1 11.6 14.8 13.5 12.7 14.5 11.8
Accumulated benefit obligation 112.4 102.3 123.9 115.7 109.1 112.4 112.4
Present benefit obligation 164.4 147.8 183.7 169.2 159.8 178.2 151.4
Total benefit obligation 352.3 309.9 402.3 362.6 342.5 392.6 314.5
Plan assets 107.5 107.5 107.5 107.5 107.5 107.5 107.5

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP         
        
From 1 January 2006 Tomra Systems  ASA was obliged to have a pension plan for its employees, and its pension plan meets this requirement. 
        
TOMRA has in accordance with NRS 6A.3 used the option to convert to IAS 19 for its pensions. The change was implemented with effect from  
1 January 2004, and unrecognized actuarial gains and losses were reset.       
  

NOTE 17 PENSION AND PENSION OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

Liquidity risk     
Liquidity risk is the risk that TOMRA will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. TOMRA has a limited exposure to liquidity risk 
on the basis of a strong cash flow in addition to a solid balance sheet -  
54 percent equity ratio at 31 December 2011 - that will enable a higher debt 
ratio if necessary. Liquidity per 31 December 2011 was NOK 728 million 
(including unused credit lines).    
  
Commodity risk     
The volatility of raw materials impact both TOMRA’s income and costs. 

income      
TOMRA is indirectly exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices in the  
IPT-segment; for customers within waste-management, the value of the 
material that TOMRA scanners sort out is a source of income. When  
commodity prices increase, the income to customers in this segment is 
affected, which affects the willingness to invest positively. At end December 
2011 TOMRA sold its subsidiary in California, which owned the materials  
collected through recycling centers. After this transaction, TOMRA’s  
aluminium exposure was significantly reduced.   
   

Costs     
The increase in fuel prices is negative for TOMRA due to higher transporta-
tion costs. First and foremost, this applies to material handling operations, 
where an increase of USD 1 per gallon diesel decreases operating profit by 
USD 1.3 million a year. Tomra uses a variety of raw materials in production, 
however, the volume of material components was not large enough for 
changes in commodity prices to significantly impact the results.  
    
foreign currency risk     
TOMRA is exposed to changes in the value of NOK relative to other curren-
cies. With ~95 percent of its income in foreign currencies, a strengthening 
of NOK will lead to reduced earnings for the Group when measured in NOK. 
The most significant risk is associated with fluctuations in the EUR and 
USD. In acccordance with the financial strategy, TOMRA can secure up to 12 
months of expected future net cash flow. The Group primarily uses forward 
contracts as an economic hedging instrument.  
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The split of revenues and the balance sheet as of 31 December in currencies, was distributed as follows:      
 
                                                                                                          Revenues                                     Balance sheet   
                                                                                                   2011            2010                   2011             2010
USD 31  % 36  %   33  % 42  %
EUR 47  % 40  %   30  % 18  %
SEK 7 % 7 %   3  % 5 %
NOK 4  % 5 %   24 % 23 %
OThER 11 % 12 %   10 % 12 %
      
The split of the balance sheet as of 31 December in currencies was distributed between the balance lines as follows:

                                     2011
                                                                                                    uSD              EuR              NOK                SEK            OTHER 
Total intangible non-current assets 12  % 27  % 45  % 2  % 14  %
Total tangible non-current assets 71  % 12  % 3  % 4  % 10  %
Total financial non-current assets 56  % 31  % 3  % 0 % 10  %
Inventory 21 % 47  % 20  % 6  % 6  %
Total receivables 45  % 34  % 7  % 5  % 9  %
Cash and cash equivalents 21  % 15 % 66  % 4  % -6  %
Total assets 33  % 30  % 24  % 3  % 10  %
     
Total non-current liabilities 1  % 1  % 94  % 1  % 3  %
Total current liabilities 19  % 27  % 41  % 6  % 7  %
Total liabilities 13 % 19  % 59  % 4  % 5 %

                                     2010
                                                                                                    uSD              EuR              NOK                SEK            OTHER 
Total intangible non-current assets 18  % 4  % 55  % 3  % 20  %
Total tangible non-current assets 75  % 8  % 6  % 4  % 7  %
Total financial non-current assets 59  % 28  % 2  % 0  % 11  %
Inventory 27  % 31  % 27  % 8  % 7  %
Total receivables 57  % 25  % 5  % 6  % 7  %
Cash and cash equivalents -3  % 74  % -13  % 14  % 28  %
Total assets 43  % 18  % 23  % 5  % 12  %
     
Total non-current liabilities 0  % 1  % 94  % 2  % 3  %
Total current liabilities 22  % 19  % 45  % 7  % 7  %
Total liabilities 18  % 15  % 55  % 6  % 6  %

A 10 percent weaker/stronger NOK would normally lead to a 15-25 percent increase/decrease in operating profit. Currency fluctuations would in 
addition affect the book value of assets and liabilities in TOMRA’s foreign subsidiaries. A 10 percent weakening/strengthening  in the value of the  
NOK would have increased/decreased equity by NOK 230 million as per balance 31 December 2011. (This analysis  assumes all other variables 
remain constant.) Such changes in value would however not have a P/L impact as they are booked as  translation differences against equity. 

       
Sensitivity analysis - isolated currency rate changes’ impact on operating profit before other items:     
       
                                                                                                           2011                                              2010   
Amounts in NOK million                                                            Income           Cost                                  Income            Cost  
10% currency change USD/NOK  113   (76)   126   (98)
10% currency change EUR/NOK  176   (118)   141   (74)
10% currency change SEK/NOK  26   (24)   26   (21)

Sensitivity analysis - isolated currency rate changes’ impact on equity:       
     
                                                                                                           2011                                              2010   
Amounts in NOK million                                                            Increase       Decline                              Increase      Decline  
10% currency change USD/NOK  107   (107)   116   (116)
10% currency change EUR/NOK  86   (86)   38   (38)
10% currency change SEK/NOK  7   (7)   8   (8)
      
The following exchange rates were applied during the year1):                Average rate                                   Reporting date rate  
                                                                                                       (P/L rate)                                        (Balance rate)  
 2011 2010  2011 2010
USD/NOK 5.606 6.044  5.993 5.856
EUR/NOK 7.793 8.007  7.754 7.813
SEK/NOK 0.863 0.839  0.870 0.871
AUD/NOK 5.782 5.553  6.095 5.961
      
1) Exchange rates distributed by the Norwegian Central bank
      

The fair value of forward contracts is calculated at the end of each period, and at 31 December 2011 the value was recognized in other short term 
receivables at NOK 3.1 million and in other current liabilities at NOK 1.9 million (per 31 December 2010: NOK 2.0 million and NOK 2.8 million 
respectively). Changes in fair value of forward contracts were recognized in the income statement in 2011. Change in fair value of forward contracts 
and currency gains on cash flows in 2011 amounted to NOK 0.5 million (see note 4).      
      
Outstanding forward foreign exchange 
contracts, as of 31 December:                                                                    2011                                                      2010  
                                                                                              Currency             Currency  
Amount forward (sold) / bought                                                (million)     Exch.rate     Due date           (million)       Exch.rate        Due date
EUR/NOK  22.0   7.747  2012  13.0  7.814 2011
GbP/NOK  (2.0)  9.273  2012  (3.0) 9.070 2011
JPY/NOK  (13.0)  0.075  2012  (1,337.5) 0.072 2011
SEK/NOK  10.0   0.869  2012  (10.0) 0.871 2011
AUD/NOK  (6.4)  6.088  2012  (11.7) 5.952 2011
ZAR/NOK  (20.7)  0.739  2012  (21.0) 0.882 2011
USD/NOK  20.0   5.987  2012  (4.0) 5.857 2011
DKK/NOK  25.0   1.042  2012  26.0  1.048 2011
KRW/NOK  (1,550.0)  0.005  2012  (3,167.5) 0.005 2011
PLN/NOK  (5.0)  1.739  2012  -   -   - 
      
TOMRA had not entered into any commodity contracts as of 31 December 2011.
      
Hedge accounting under IAS39     
Tomra Systems ASA has not applied hedge accounting in 2011 for the cash flow in accordance with IAS39.

Overview of financial assets and liabilities - carrying and fair values:       
 
                                                                                                        2011                                             2010   
                                                                                             Carrying           Fair                                Carrying           Fair  
Amounts in NOK million                                                          amount value             amount value  
Long term receivables 226.1  233.4   164.7  163.2 
Receivables 722.9  722.9   737.7  737.7 
Cash and cash equivalents 178.3  178.3   56.6  56.6 
Forward exchange contracts 1.2  1.2   (0.8) (0.8)
Finance lease liabilities (14.7) (14.4)  (5.8) (5.8)
Unsecured bank facilities (500.0) (500.0)  (250.0) (251.2)
Other interest-bearing liabilities (225.8) (225.8)  (228.1) (210.1)
Payables (205.2) (205.2)  (200.8) (200.8)
Total 182.8  190.4   273.5  288.8

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont.)
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The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for employees are as follows:
    
                                                                                                                                             2011                                   2010 
                                                                                                                  Weighted average         Number of     Weighted average       Number of   
                                                                                                             strike price              options            strike price               options
Outstanding at the beginning of the period  33.30   136,676   35.13   322,630 
Forfeited during the period  -   -   36.63   (177,037)
Exercised during the period  33.30   (136,676)  33.30   (8,917)
Granted during the period  n/a   -     n/a   -   
Outstanding and exercisable at the end of the period  -     -     33.30   136,676 
      
No options are outstanding at 31 December 2011.    

TOMRA SYSTEMS - NGAAP    
The share option program for employees in Tomra Systems ASA is identical to those for the rest of the Group, and has been calculated using the same  
principles under IFRS described above.    
    
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for employees are as follows:  
    
                                                                                                                                               2011                                   2010 
                                                                                                                  Weighted average         Number of     Weighted average       Number of   
                                                                                                             strike price              options            strike price               options
Outstanding at the beginning of the period 33.30  42,025  33.30  60,399 
Forfeited during the period -  -  33.30  (16,080)
Exercised during the period 33.30  (42,025) 33.30  (2,294)
Granted during the period n/a  -    n/a  -   
Outstanding and exercisable at the end of the period -  -  33.30  42,025 
    
No options were outstanding at 31 December 2011. Total expense recognized as employee cost in 2011 is NOK zero.  

Share Purchase Program    
In 2008 TOMRA established a share purchase program for permanent employees. In this program TOMRA invites employees to buy shares in TOMRA 
at market price and receive one bonus share per five invested shares, provided that the shares are kept for at least one year and the employee is still 
employed by TOMRA. The employee can buy shares up to a maximum of 30 percent of his/her gross salary. The share purchase program uses own 
shares acquired by TOMRA as authorized by the Annual General Meeting. The shares are purchased on the Oslo Stock Exchange.   
 

 2011 2010
Number of shares purchased by employees   136,014   73,305 
  
Share price (closing market share price, the day before the allotment date)  41.00   28.00 
  
Number of bonus shares, distributed one year after investment  27,203   14,594 
  
Total expenses recognized  0.6 mill   0.5 mill 

GROuP - IFRS

Share option plans for employees
TOMRA previously had a share bonus program for all employees in 
wholly-owned TOMRA companies. Under the plan, all employees were 
granted up to 1,200 options  each year with a strike price equal to the 
market price at the beginning of the respective year. Share options were 
granted under a service condition and a non-market performance con-
dition in  the form of entities achieving the agreed budget. The vesting 
period was one year. vested options could be kept up to five years after 
vesting. No options have been granted under this plan since 2005. All 
employee options expired in 2011. 

Share option plans for management
TOMRA also had a share bonus program for management where vesting  
conditions were tied to specific non-market performance targets  
(variable plans) in addition to service conditions. vesting period was one 

year. vested options could be exercised up to two years after vesting. 
The strike price  was based upon the average closing price on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange the three days following granting of the options. The 
share bonus program included about 110 managers and other key  
personnel in the Group, with an average of about 20,000 share options 
per manager each year. No options have been granted under this plan 
since 2005. All management options expired in 2008.

Exercise 2011
136,676 employee options were exercised in March 2011. The option 
plan has been accounted for as an equity settled plan, but the option 
exercise in 2011 was settled by cash equal to NOK 1,047,785. In  
addition 600 options were settled with treasury shares. All options 
under TOMRA share option programs have now expired.

NOTE 20 ShARE-bASED PAYMENTS

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont.)

The following summarizes the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments in the table:    
  
Cash and cash equivalents      
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents equaled the fair value due to their short maturities.      
      
Financial derivatives       
The fair value of forward currency contracts represented quoted market price, ie the exchange rate at 31 December 2011 and the interest points obtained 
from the different market institutions.      
      
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings       
The fair value of the unsecured bank loan was based on loan amounts and accrued interest per 31.12.2011. Future interest payments and repayments with 
a time to maturity of more than one year are discounted.      
      
Receivables/payables      
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount was deemed to reflect the fair value. All other receivables/ 
payables were discounted to determine the fair value.      
       
Interest rates used for determining fair value  2011                    2010   
Loans and borrowings  n/a 4.0 %
Receivables/payables  2.0 % 3.0 %
      
Financial assets and liabilities per 31 December 2011 - maturity analysis:
      
                                                                                    Carrying                 Quarter  1            Quarter 2-4   
Amounts in NOK million amount            2012                      2012          2013                    2014 - 
Long term receivables 226.1    45.4  180.7 
Receivables 722.9  722.9    
Cash and cash equivalents 178.3  178.3    
Forward exchange contracts 1.2  1.2    
Finance lease liabilities (14.7)   (2.9) (11.8)
Unsecured bank facilities (500.0)    (500.0)
Other interest-bearing liabilities (225.8) (0.8) (225.0) (1.0) 
Payables (205.2) (205.2)   
Total 182.8  696.4  (225.0) 41.5  (331.1) 
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NOTE 21 EQUITY       

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP       
 Share Treasury Share Paid-in Retained Total Number of
Amounts in NOK million capital shares premium capital earnings equity shares
Balance per 1 January 2010 150.0  (1.9) 918.3  1,066.4  902.5  1,968.9  150,020,078
       
Profit for the period     (94.9) (94.9) 
Deleted shares (2.0) 2.0     0.0   (2,000,000)
Purchase of own shares  (0.2)  (0.2) (6.5) (6.7) 
Own shares sold to employees  0.1   0.1  2.3  2.4  
Dividend received on own shares     0.1  0.1  
Dividend to shareholders     (88.8) (88.8) 
       
Balance per 31 December 2010 148.0  0.0  918.3  1,066.3  714.7  1,781.0  148,020,078
       
Profit for the period     162.5  162.5  
Purchase of own shares  (0.3)  (0.3) (9.8) (10.1) 
Own shares sold to employees  0.2   0.2  6.0  6.2  
Dividend received on own shares     0.1  0.1  
Dividend to shareholders     (155.3) (155.3) 
       
Balance per 31 December 2011 148.0  (0.1) 918.3  1,066.2  718.2  1,784.4  148,020,078

Shares par value is 1 NOK. Free equity at the end of 2011 equaled NOK 678.0 million.  In 2011 Tomra Systems ASA purchased 251,000 own shares at an 
average price of NOK 40.14 per share.  At shareholders meeting on 21 April 2010, it was decided to amortize 2,000,000 treasury shares.  
The amortization took place after the notification period expired in July 2010. Total shareholding of treasury shares was 133,309 as of year end 2011.

GROuP - IFRS     Total equity  
     attributable to Non- 
  Paid-in        Translation Retained  the owners of  controlling Total
Amounts in NOK million  capital reserve earnings the company Interest Equity
Balance per 1 January 2010  1,066.4  (199.7) 978.1  1,844.8  57.9  1,902.7 
      
Profit for the period    73.7  73.7  39.8  113.5
Changes in translation differences   (0.5)  (0.5) 0.8  0.3 
Total comprehensive income for the period  0.0  (0.5) 73.7  73.2  40.6  113.8 
      
Transactions with shareholders      
Disposal of subsidiaries/dividend non-controlling interest    0.0  (30.1) (30.1)
Purchase of own shares  (0.2)  (6.5) (6.7)  (6.7)
Own shares sold to employees  0.1   2.3  2.4   2.4 
Dividend to shareholders    (81.4) (81.4)  (81.4)
Total transactions with shareholders  (0.1) 0.0  (85.6) (85.7) (30.1) (115.8)
      
Balance per 31 December 2010  1,066.3  (200.2) 966.2  1,832.3  68.4  1,900.7 
      
Profit for the period    382.0  382.0  36.5  418.5 
Changes in translation differences   19.4   19.4  1.6  21.0 
Total comprehensive income for the period  0.0  19.4  382.0  401.4  38.1  439.5 
      
Transactions with shareholders      
Disposal of subsidiaries/dividend non-controlling interest    0.0  (30.7) (30.7)
Purchase of own shares  (0.3)  (9.8) (10.1)  (10.1)
Own shares sold to employees  0.2   6.0  6.2   6.2 
Dividend to shareholders    (88.7) (88.7)  (88.7)
Total transactions with shareholders  (0.1) 0.0  (92.5) (92.6) (30.7) (123.3)
      
Balance per 31 December 2011  1,066.2  (180.8) 1,255.7  2,141.1  75.8  2,216.9 
      
1) Dividend payment was NOK 0.60 per share in 2011, as proposed in the 2010 financial statements.    
    
Translation reserve     
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations that 
are not integral to the operations of the company.      
     
Dividends     
After the balance sheet date the following dividends were proposed by the directors:      
      
Amounts in NOK million    2011 2010
NOK 1.05 per qualifying share (2010: NOK 0.60)   155.3   88.8 
     
The dividend has not yet been provided for and there are no income tax consequences.     
 

Earnings per share    2011 2010
Average number of shares    148,020,078  148,975,634 
Average number of shares, adjusted for own shares   147,895,480  148,011,226 
Average number of shares, adjusted for own shares, fully diluted   147,895,480  148,011,226 
     
     
Majority equity 31 December (MNOK)     2,141.1   1,832.3 
Equity per share (NOK)     14.48   12.38 
     
     
Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent (MNOK)   382.0 73.7
Earnings per share      2.58   0.50 
Earnings per share, fully diluted     2.58   0.50 
     
All options under Tomra Share option programs had been exercised by end 2011, see note 20.     
    
Purchase of own shares      
Tomra was granted authority to acquire treasury shares at the annual general meeting 28 April 2011, limited to a total of 10,000,000 shares. 
At the end of 2011 no shares had been purchased under this proxy.      
  
Share purchase program      
To motivate employees to become long term owners in TOMRA, the board established a share purchase program in 2008, where employees could buy 
shares at marketprice. For every five shares the employee bought, TOMRA would give one bonus share after a year, provided that the employee was 
still employed by TOMRA and had kept the shares for the entire year. In 2011 136,014 shares were sold to employees as part of this share purchase 
program and 14,594 shares were given to employees as a result of the 2010 program.
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NOTE 23 ACQUISITIONS      
      
Odenberg Group
On 14 December 2010, TOMRA entered into a put/call option agreement with the owners of Dublin based technology manufacturer Odenberg 
Investment Ltd, enabling Tomra Sorting Solutions AS to acquire 100 percent of the shares in Odenberg by the end of January 2011. The option 
was exercised in January 2011 and Tomra Sorting Solutions AS paid 7 February 2011 a consideration corresponding to an enterprise value of EUR 
55 million. In addition conditional payments of up to EUR 2.5 million could have been triggered based on 2011 financial performance. Actual 2011 
financial results have not triggered any conditional payment. 
 
Odenberg is a leading provider of advanced sorting and processing technology to the international food processing industry. The purpose of the 
acquisition was to enter into the food sorting industry, enabling TOMRA to utilize its recognition and sorting technology in this segment. 
 
Odenberg was consolidated in the TOMRA Group from 1 February 2011.     
      
The net assets aquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising, are as follows:      
 

 Acquiree’s
 carrying amount Fair value   
Amounts in EuR million before combination adjustments Fair value 
Net assets acquired:     
     
Patents and technology   0.2  9.1  9.3 
Goodwill   0.0  44.2  44.2 
Property, plant and equipment   2.0  0.0  2.0 
Inventories   6.6  0.0  6.6 
Accounts Receivable   1.6  0.0  1.6 
Cash equivalents   3.0  0.0  3.0 
Prepayments / Other Assets   1.2  0.0  1.2 
Accrued Expenses / Liabilities   (11.8)  (1.1)  (12.9) 
Total consideration to be satisfied by cash  2.8  52.2  55.0 
     
Total goodwill related to the transaction    44.2 
     
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:     
Cash consideration paid     55.0 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired     (3.0)
Net cash outflow in 2011     52.0 
      
The goodwill arising on the transaction was attributable to predicted future cash flows, know-how and some synergies.    
     
The acquired company contributed EUR 39.7 million in revenue and EUR 5.3 million to the Group’s  net operating profit for the period between the 
date of acquisition and 31 December 2011.     
     
If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2011, total group revenue for 2011 would have increased by EUR 0.4 million, and net operating 
profit for the year would have decreased by EUR 0.9 million.        
 
Acquisition cost of NOK 4 million was booked as operating expenses in 2010, and NOK 5.5 million has been booked as operating expenses in 2011. 
    

NOTE 22 ShAREhOLDERS   
      
The amounts shown are based upon information from verdipapirsentralen.   
On nominee accounts, information regarding beneficial ownership has been collected and  presented where possible.   
       
 Registered at 31 December 2011 Number of shares Ownership
1. Investment Ab Latour 23,000,000  15.54 %
2. Folketrygdfondet 15,853,929  10.71 %
3. Jupiter Asset Management Ltd. (UK) 14,875,152  10.05 %
4. Nordea Investment Management Ab 4,568,021  3.09 %
5. Fondita Fund Management Co. Ltd. 2,760,000  1.86 %
6. Templeton Investment Counsel LLC 2,092,576  1.41 %
7. varma Mutual Pension Insurance Co. 1,982,406  1.34 %
8. KLP Kapitalforvaltning ASA 1,837,680  1.24 %
9. Impax Asset Management Ltd. 1,658,834  1.12 %
10. Ferd AS Invest 1,490,632  1.01 %
11. Odey Asset Management LLP 1,489,389  1.01 %
12. henderson Global Investors Ltd.  1,332,352  0.90 %
13. Oslo Pensjonsforsikring AS 1,200,000  0.81 %
14. holberg Fondsforvaltning AS 1,179,750  0.80 %
15. Manning & Napier Advisors, Inc. 1,107,278  0.75 %
16. F&C Asset Managers Ltd. 1,044,161  0.71 %
17. Threadneedle Asset Management Ltd.  954,220  0.64 %
18. OkoWorld Lux SA  952,000  0.64 %
19. Dimensional Fund Advisors, Inc.  944,750  0.64 %
20. FIL Investissements SAS  938,550  0.63 %
   
 Total 81,261,680  54.90 %
  Other shareholders 66,758,398  45.10 %
  Total (6,932 shareholders) 148,020,078  100.00 %
    
 Shares owned by Norwegian residents 39,430,981  26.64 %
 Shares owned by others 108,589,097  73.36 %
 Total 148,020,078  100.00 %
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NOTE 23 ACQUISITIONS (cont.)      
      
Can and Bottle Systems Inc (CBSI)       
On 1 November 2010, TOMRA acquired 100 percent of the assets in Can and bottle Systems Inc, an Oregon (USA) based RvM producer.  
The purchase price was USD 5.3 million, paid in cash, plus an earn-out of up to USD 0.3 million based upon 2011 performance. The purpose of the 
acquisition was to establish a presence in the state.      
      
The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising, are as follows:      
 
 Acquiree’s
 carrying amount Fair value   
Amounts in uSD million before combination adjustments Fair value 
Net assets acquired:     
     
Patents and technology   0.1  0.0  0.1 
Customer relationships   0.0  4.0  4.0 
Goodwill   0.0  1.4  1.4 
Property, plant and equipment   0.0  0.0  0.0 
Inventories   1.0  0.0  1.0 
Accounts Receivable   0.1  0.0  0.1 
Prepayments / Other Assets   0.0  0.0  0.0 
Deferred Service Contracts   (0.4)  0.0  (0.4) 
Accrued Expenses / Liabilities   (0.6)  0.0  (0.6) 
Total consideration to be satisfied by cash  0.2  5.4  5.6 
     
Total goodwill related to the transaction    1.4 
     
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:     
Cash consideration paid     5.3 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired     0.0 
Net cash outflow in 2010     5.3 
     
The goodwill arising on the transaction was attributable to predicted future cash flows. 

The acquired company contributed USD 0.9 million in revenue and USD 0.1 million to the Group’s  net operating profit for the period between the 
date of acquisition and 31 December 2010. 

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2010, total group revenue for 2010 would have increased by USD 4.6 million, and net operating 
profit for the year would have increased by USD 0.5 million.  

Acquisition cost of NOK 3 million was booked as operating expenses in 2010.   

Returnable Services, Inc (RSI)
On 17 December 2010, TOMRA acquired 100 percent of the assets in Returnable Services Inc, a material pick-up and processing provider in Maine 
(USA). The purchase price was USD 7.5 million in cash. The purpose of the acquisition was to establish a presence in a state where TOMRA had no 
material handling operations.      
      
The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising, are as follows:      
 
 Acquiree’s
 carrying amount Fair value   
Amounts in uSD million before combination adjustments Fair value 
Net assets acquired:     
     
Trademarks   0.0 0.6 0.6
Customer relationships   0.0 1.4 1.4
Goodwill   0.0 3.4 3.4
Property, plant and equipment   0.4 0.0 0.4
Accounts Receivable   1.9 0.0 1.9
Cash and cash equivalents   0.1 0.0 0.1
Accrued Expenses / Liabilities   (0.3) 0.0 (0.3)
Total consideration satisfied by cash   2.1 3.4 7.5
     
Total goodwill related to the transaction    3.4 
     
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:     
Cash consideration paid     7.5 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired     (0.1)
Net cash outflow     7.4 
     
The goodwill arising on the transaction was attributable to predicted future cash flows.    
    
The acquired company’s revenue and operating profit were immaterial between  the acquisition date and 31 December 2010.   
    
If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2010, total group revenue for 2010 would have increased by USD 5.5 million, and net operating 
profit for the year would have increased by USD 0.9 million.
       
Acquisition cost of NOK 3 million was booked as operating expenses in 2010.    
    

Terra Vision      
In August 2010, TiTech AS acquired 100 percent of the shares in 9166-7113 Quebec Inc (Terra vision), a small Canadian developer of ore-sorting 
solutions. The purchase price was CAD 0.9 million. In addition the shareholders could earn up to CAD 0.1 million if certain financial targets were met 
in 2010. The purpose of the acquisition was to improve access to the American mining market. 
 
The additional purchase price of CAD 0.1 million was paid out in 2011.      
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NOTE 24 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 31 December 2011, Tomra sold the assets of Tomra Pacific, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Tomra of North America, Inc, to rePlanet, LLC. 
Total consideration for the transaction was USD 28.4 million, of which USD 11.0 million was paid at closing, another USD 15.0 million is to be paid 
in 2012 and the remaining 2.4 million as a seller note, due in 2015. Tomra has given representations and warranties in line with what is considered 
normal in such transactions, and the seller note works as an Escrow account in this context.  
  
The business of Tomra Pacific has been a separate major line of business for the Group and has previously been reported as a separate geographical 
area (US West) in the segment  “Material handling”. Tomra Pacific was not a discontinued operation or classified as held for sale at 31 December 
2010. The comparative consolidated Income Statement has been restated to show the discontinued operations separately from continuing  
operations.  

Analysis of the loss on sale of discontinued operation
      
Amounts in NOK million   2011 2010
Operating revenues   433.0  446.0 
  
Operating expenses  
Cost of goods sold   237.7  216.7 
Employee benefits expenses   132.3  144.4 
Ordinary depreciation   13.0  15.4 
Other operating expenses   20.8  25.1 
Total operating expenses   403.8  401.6 
  
Net operating profit   29.2  44.4 
  
Income tax expense   9.2  17.5 
Profit from discontinued operations after tax   20.0  26.9 
  
After tax loss on divestment   40.3  
Currency loss on divested entity equity*   1.1  
  
Total discontinued operations   (21.4) 26.9 
     
Earnings per share from discontinued operations, basic (NOK)  (0.14) 0.18 
Earnings per share from discontinued operations, diluted (NOK)  (0.14) 0.18 
     

* From implementation of IFRS in 2004
There are no minorities in Tomra Pacific.

Amounts in NOK million   2011 2010
Cash flow from discontinued operations  
Net cash flow from operating activities   60.7  63.8 
Net cash flow from investing activities   (14.1) (7.5)
Net cash flow from financing activities   -  - 
Net cash flows for the year   46.6  56.3 

Cash flow from discontinued operations is presented exclusive of intra-group transactions between Tomra Pacific and the rest of the TOMRA Group, 
and contains the activities of Tomra Pacific in 2010 and 2011.  
 
The proceeds from the sale of Tomra Pacific are not included in this cash flow.

Effect of the disposal on individual assets and liabilities of the Group

Amounts in uSD million   2011
Fixed assets   11.6
Trade receivables   23.9 
Other receivables   4.5 
Inventory   1.3 
Trade payables   (7.2)
Other current liabilities   (2.2)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities sold   31.9 
 
Sales price   28.4 
 
Transaction costs   2.1 
Post closing costs   1.5 
Contingent liabilities   2.4 
Taxes on divestment loss   (2.8)
Loss in uSD million   6.7 
Loss in NOK million   40.3 
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 2011 2010 Amounts in NOK million 2011 2010
    
  -     4.7  Loss on sale of Presona Ab  -     18.5 
  -     226.1  EU Penalty  -     226.1 
  -     230.8  Total other items  -     244.6 

    
Loss on sale of Presona AB      
 
In April 2010 Orwak Group Ab sold 100 percent of its shares in Presona Ab. A loss of NOK 18.5 million was recorded in 
second quarter 2010 related to this transaction.     
 
Amounts in NOK million     
Non-current assets   3.1 
Inventory    22.8 
Receivables   8.0 
Liabilties    (16.4) 
Net assets sold   17.5 
      
Cash received   4.7 
Currency translation differences booked to equity (0.3) 
Contingent liabilities and transaction costs  (5.4) 
Loss    18.5  
      
 Eu Penalty      
 
EUR 28.2 million (NOK 226.1 million) has been accrued for fine and accumulated interest to the EU commision. The fine is not tax deductable.  
See also note 5.      
 

NOTE 25 OThER ITEMS



57
annual report 2011toMra 

Today, the chief executive officer and the board of directors reviewed and approved the Board of Directors’ 

Report and the consolidated and separate annual financial statements for Tomra Systems ASA as of 31 

December 2011 (annual report 2011).

to the best of our knowledge:

- the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRIC as adopted by the EU 

and additional Norwegian disclosure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting act, and that were effective 

as of 31 December 2011.

- the separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and 

Norwegian accounting standards as of 31 December 2011.

- the Board of Directors’ Report for the Group and the Parent Company is in accordance with the requirements 

in the Norwegian Accounting Act and Norwegian accounting standard no 16, as of 31 December 2011.

- the consolidated and separate annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 

financial position and profit as a whole as of 31 December 2011 for the Group and the Parent Company. 

- the Board of Directors’ Report for the Group and the Parent Company includes a true and fair view of;

 - the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group and the Parent Company.

 - the principal risks and uncertainties the Group and the Parent Company face.

 

Asker, 16 February 2012    
      
Svein Rennemo Jan Svensson Bernd H.J. Bothe Hege Marie Norheim 
Chairman board member board member board member

Aniela Gjøs David Williamson Ingrid Solberg               Stefan Ranstrand
board member Employee representative Employee representative President & CEO
 

Directors‘ responsibility statement
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